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Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

Consolidated comprehensive income statement 
 

(EUR thousand) Note 
1 Jan. 2024 – 

31 Dec. 2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 

31 Dec. 2023 

Revenue 3 6,813 5,626 
Maintenance and repair costs 4 -502 -241 

Gross margin   6,311 5,385 

Change in fair value of the module stock 5 -8,269 274 
Sales and marketing costs 6 -347 -287 
Administrative expenses 7 -1,254 -584 
Other expenses 10 -61 -2 

Operating profit   -3,621 4,786 

    
Financial income 11 145 0 
Financial expenses 11 -6,043 -2,820 
Change in fair value of loan receivables 11 221 -1,671 

Total financial income and expenses   -5,677 -4,491 

    
Result before tax   -9,298 295 

Income taxes 12 1,884 -94 

Total comprehensive income of the period   -7,413 201 

    

Total comprehensive income for the period is attributable to    

Shareholders of the parent company  -7,413 201 
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Consolidated balance sheet 
(EUR thousand) Note 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 

ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Investments in module stock 13 83,345 74,620 58,410 
Advance payments 13 2 3,883 5,623 
Tangible assets 14 167 58 – 
Right-of-use assets 15 206 235 65 
Intangible assets 16 263 96 – 
Loan receivables 17 1,179 1,038 2,709 
Trade and other receivables 18 180 143 229 

Total non-current assets   85,341 80,073 67,036 
Current assets     

Trade and other receivables 18 201 711 1,372 
Income tax receivables 12 – 0 – 
Restricted cash 19 4,327 – – 
Cash and cash equivalents 19 1,686 0 131 

Total current assets   6,214 711 1,503 

Total assets   91,555 80,784 68,539 

     

    31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 

EQUITY  20    

Share capital  3 3 3 
Reserve for invested unrestricted equity  10,810 6,630 5,746 
Retained earnings  20,009 27,400 27,181 

Total equity   30,821 34,033 32,930 

LIABILITIES     

Non-current liabilities     

Bonds 21 47,831 – – 
Other loans 21 23 41 16,586 
Lease liabilities 15 200 148 51 
Provisions 22 1,869 1,635 1,638 
Deferred tax liabilities 12 4,433 6,318 6,344 
Advances received 23 2,038 2,207 2,079 
Trade and other payables 23 – 270 270 

Total non-current liabilities   56,393 10,618 26,967 
Current liabilities     

Other loans 21 520 30,769 6,086 
Lease liabilities 15 61 89 15 
Provisions 22 344 445 – 
Advances received 23 750 633 522 
Trade and other payables 23 2,666 4,197 2,019 

Total current liabilities   4,341 36,133 8,643 

Total liabilities   60,734 46,751 35,610 

Total equity and liabilities   91,555 80,784 68,539 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
 

(EUR thousand) Note 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 

Dec. 2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 

Dec. 2023 

Cash flow from operating activities  
  

Operating profit   -3 621 4 786 

Adjustments:  
  

Depreciation, amortization and impairments  115 54 

Change in fair value of the module stock  8 269  -274 

Change in provisions  -498 – 

Changes in working capital:  
  

Change in trade and other receivables  473 747 

Change in trade and other payables   548 162 

Cash flow from operating activities  5 287 5 475 

Income taxes paid  –  -216 

Net cash flow from operating activities   5 287 5 260 

  
  

Cash flow from investing activities  
  

Acquisition of module stock 13.19  -13 854  -12 545 

Acquisition of tangible assets 14  -144  -167 

Acquisition of intangible assets 16  -190 – 

Interest income received  225 0 

Net cash flow from investing activities    -13 963  -12 711 

  
  

Cash flow from financing activities  
  

Share issue 20 – 884 

Invested unrestricted equity without share consideration 20 3 030 – 

Proceeds from loans 21 48 673 10 815 

Repayments of loans 21  -32 217  -2 685 

Repayment of lease liabilities 15,21  -56  -39 

Transaction costs related to issuing the bond 21  -2 544 – 

Interest paid and payments for financial expenses 11  -6 525  -1 654 

Net cash flow from financing activities   10 362 7 321 

  
  

Change in cash and cash equivalents  1 686  -131 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  0 131 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year   1 686 0 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
 

  Equity attributable to owners of the parent company 

(EUR thousand) Note Share capital 

Reserve for 
invested 

unrestricted 
equity 

Retained 
earnings Total equity 

Total equity, 1 Jan. 2024 3 6,630 27,400 34,033 
Comprehensive income     
Result for the period  – –  -7,413  -7,413 
Total comprehensive income for the period – –  -7,413  -7,413 

      
Transactions with owners     
Invested unrestricted equity without share consideration 20 – 3,030 – 3,030 
Conversion of loans into invested unrestricted equity 20 – 1,150 – 1,150 
Transactions with owners, total – 4,180 – 4,180       

Options related to loans 21 – – 22 22 

      
Total equity, 31 Dec. 2024 3 10,810 20,009 30,821 

       

  Equity attributable to owners of the parent company 

(EUR thousand) Note Share capital 

Reserve for 
invested 

unrestricted 
equity 

Retained 
earnings Total equity 

Total equity, 1 Jan. 2023 FAS 3 5,746 1,118 6,867 
Impact of the IFRS transition 29 – – 26,063 26,063 
Total equity, 1 Jan. 2023 IFRS 3 5,746 27,181 32,930 

      
Comprehensive income     
Result for the period  – – 201 201 
Total comprehensive income for the period – – 201 201 

      
Transactions with owners     
Share issue  20 – 884 – 884 
Transactions with owners, total – 884 – 884       

Options related to loans 21 – – 19 19 

      
Total equity, 31 Dec. 2023 3 6,630 27,400 34,033 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

1 Basis of presentation 
 

Basic information and Group structure 
 

KoskiRent Oy leases relocatable premises to cities, municipalities and other public sector operators. 
Most of the premises operate as schools and day-cares. However, the purpose of KoskiRent Oy's 
premises can be flexibly changed to meet the customer's needs. 

KoskiRent Oy (or "the company”) and its subsidiary KoskiRent Palvelut Oy (FI34890507), established in 
the financial year 1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 2024, form a group (hereinafter “the Group” or “KoskiRent”). The 
Group operates in Finland and it had an average of 9 employees during the financial year. 

KoskiRent Oy is part of the parent group KoskiRent Group Oy (FI34520901). KoskiRent Group Oy was 
founded in 2024. KoskiRent Oy is a wholly owned subsidiary of KoskiRent Group Oy. 

The Group’s parent company, KoskiRent Oy, is a Finnish public limited company incorporated under 
Finnish law, whose business is ID FI25397526. The parent company is domiciled in Teuva and its 
registered address is Horontie 238, 64700 TEUVA. On 28 June 2024, KoskiRent Oy issued a secured 
bond with a nominal value of EUR 50 million, which is listed on the Frankfurt Open Market exchange. 
The marketplace is classified as a multilateral trading facility and is not regulated under EU directives. 

KoskiRent Oy’s Board of Directors approved the financial statements for publication at its meeting on  
14 July  2025. A copy of the consolidated financial statements is available at: 
www.modulo.fi/sijoittajille. 

 

General accounting policies 
 

General information 

This set of consolidated financial statements comprising of the consolidated financial statements as at 
and for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 (the “consolidated financial 
statements”) prepared solely for the purpose of inclusion in the prospectus prepared in connection 
with the listing of the bonds issued by the company on the corporate bond list of Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd 
(“Nasdaq Helsinki“) and cannot be used for any other purposes. These consolidated financial 
statements are not KoskiRent’s statutory financial statements and they differ from the historical 
financial information presented in the company’s audited statutory financial statements adopted by the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for the respective years due to, supplementing certain note 
information, and due to transition to IFRS in 2024 with the transition date being 1 January 2023 as 2023 
statutory financial statements are prepared under Finnish Accounting Standards. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as adopted by EU, applying the accounting standards and interpretations valid on 31 
December 2024. The notes to the consolidated financial statements are also in accordance with 
Finnish accounting and corporate legislation. 
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The first consolidated financial statements under IFRS Accounting Standards were prepared for the 
financial year that ended on 31 December 2024, including comparative information  for the financial 
year that ended on 31 December 2023. The Group’s date of transitionto IFRS Accounting Standards was 
1 January 2023. KoskiRent Oy established a subsidiary, KoskiRent Palvelut Oy, on 5 December 2024, 
thus forming the group structure in the 2024 financial year. The comparison data before the 
establishment of the subsidiary for the financial year 2023 and the opening balances on 1 January 2023 
are IFRS-compliant figures of the separate company KoskiRent Oy. The effects of the transition to IFRS 
Accounting Standards are described in Note 29. Transition to IFRS Accounting Standards. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
investment properties and subordinated loan receivables, which have been measured at fair value. 

All amounts shown in the financial statements and notes are rounded to the nearest 1,000 unless 
otherwise stated. As a result, the sums of the individual figures may differ from the total sum presented. 

 

Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements include the parent company KoskiRent Oy and its subsidiary 
KoskiRent Palvelut Oy, over which it has control. According to IFRS accounting standards, control is 
established either through shareholding, agreement or administration. The Group has a controlling 
interest when it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns in the investment object and can affect 
those returns through its control over the investment object. A subsidiary is consolidated in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date the company reaches controlling interest. The 
consolidation ends when control of the subsidiary ceases.  

Intra-group transactions, margins and profit distribution, as well as intercompany receivables and 
liabilities, are eliminated when preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

Associated companies 

Associated companies are companies in which the Group has significant influence. Significant 
influence generally arises when the Group owns more than 20% of the voting power of a company, or 
when the Group otherwise has significant influence, but not control. 

 

M-Partners Oy 

M-Partners Oy, which acts as a subcontractor for KoskiRent Oy, is a related party of the company. M-
Partners Ltd acts as a technologically important subcontractor that manufactures the modules 
designed by KoskiRent Oy. KoskiRent Oy and M-Partners Ltd, have a cooperation agreement that 
obligates M-Partners Ltd to manufacture the modules ordered by KoskiRent Oy within the limits of its 
own capacity and order book. In addition, M-Partners Ltd is authorised to use the Modulo brand owned 
by KoskiRent Oy in its marketing. 

On 16 December 2019, KoskiRent Oy granted M-Partners Ltd an equity-based convertible subordinated 
loan of EUR 1,000 thousand referred to in Section 12:1 of the Limited Liability Companies Act. The loan 
has been granted to enable the production and delivery of new premises to be acquired. The loan has 
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no maturity date and is unsecured. The outstanding principal of the loan accrues an annual interest of 8 
percent until the loan principal and accrued interest have been repaid in full or converted into the 
company's shares. The subordinated loan was originally granted to M-Partners Ltd without conversion 
rights into shares. A conversion right to M-Partners Ltd's shares was added to the subordinated loan 
agreement on 18 February 2021 for the outstanding capital as of 1 January 2024. In 2023, the boards of 
both KoskiRent Oy and M-Partners Ltd agreed that the conversion right of the subordinated loan will not 
be exercised in 2024 and the terms of the subordinated loan agreement were amended in 2024 by 
changing the starting date of the conversion right to 1 January 2027. 

For details on related party transactions and the loan to M-Partners Ltd, see the following Notes 17. 
Loan receivables, 24. Classification and fair value of financial assets and liabilities, and 27. Related 
party transactions. 

Management estimate 

According to an estimate by the management and Board of Directors, the company is not considered to 
have control over M-Partners Ltd, and, thus, it is not consolidated into the Group. However, KoskiRent 
Oy has considerable influence. The factors that have led to the conclusion that KoskiRent Oy does not 
control but has significant influence are described below 

KoskiRent Oy does not own shares or voting rights in M-Partners Ltd as a shareholder, and the 
convertible subordinated loan is not convertible before 1 January 2027. The management has 
estimated the valid cooperation agreement between M-Partners Ltd and KoskiRent Oy, which defines 
the roles and responsibilities of both companies in the supply chain of rental properties. The 
cooperation agreement also stipulates M-Partners Ltd's pricing for the modules ordered by KoskiRent 
Oy, which is at a fixed price, and any costs exceeding or falling below the budget are shared equally 
between the parties. According to the cooperation agreement and KoskiRent Group Oy's shareholders' 
agreement, of which M-Partners Ltd is a member, M-Partners Ltd is obliged to manufacture the 
modules ordered by KoskiRent Oy. M-Partners Ltd has manufactured all the modules delivered by 
KoskiRent Oy, and although KoskiRent Oy could order modules from other subcontractors, this has not 
been the case historically. In addition, M-Partners Ltd may not sell services to rental operators similar to 
the company or the company's competitors without the consent of KoskiRent Oy. For direct sales, M-
partners Ltd does not need approval from KoskiRent Oy. The obligation to produce modules does not 
give KoskiRent Oy's orders priority in M-Partners Ltd's order book, but M-Partners Ltd delivers the orders 
within the limits of its capacity in the order of reception. M-Partners Ltd has the ability to generate 
variable income by selling its production to customers outside KoskiRent Oy under a cooperation 
agreement and KoskiRent Oy is not entitled to a share of this income. M-Partners Ltd therefore has the 
ability to operate independently in a manner that materially affects its earnings. 

The companies also share the following management resources: The CEO’s input, the formation of a 
consortium in certain tendering procedures and marketing cooperation. The companies have the same 
CEO, who exercises control in M-Partners Ltd and is its largest shareholder. KoskiRent Oy participates 
in tenders in its own name after ensuring that M-Partners Ltd has sufficient capacity and a delivery 
schedule before submitting a tender. In some cases, the tendering criteria for large projects may 
include requirements related to revenue, in which case KoskiRent Oy and M-Partners Ltd can 
participate in tenders together as a consortium. In addition, M-Partners Ltd is authorised to use the 
Modulo brand owned by KoskiRent Oy in the marketing of its direct sales targets. The CEO's control over 
KoskiRent Oy is limited by KoskiRent Group Oy's shareholders' agreement regarding transactions with 
M-Partners Ltd that exceed the approved budget, and these inter-company transactions require the 
approval of the Board of Directors. 
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If the capital loan granted by KoskiRentOy is partially or fully outstanding and the company decides to 
exercise its conversion right after January 1, 2027, the company can subscribe for a total of 2,602 M-
Partners Ltd's shares with its loan capital at a subscription price of EUR 384.31 per share. By converting 
the entire loan capital into shares, KoskiRent Oy's ownership would correspond to 67.5% with M-
Partners Ltd's number of shares on 31 December 2024. Should the conversion of the capital loan into 
shares be fully or partially realized, KoskiRent Oy will have to re-estimate the resulting influence and the 
basis of consolidation. 

M-Partners Ltd has the right to make the most significant decisions pertaining to its business that affect 
variable income, despite the considerable influence of KoskiRent Oy. Such decisions include, but are 
not limited to, business development, the appointment of the CEO and the Board of Directors, the 
preparation of budgets at company level, the sale and pricing of properties to customers other than 
KoskiRent Oy, the development of the production plant, and securing financing. 

 

Group structure 

    31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Subsidiary Domicile holding % holding % holding % 
KoskiRent Palvelut Oy Finland 100%  -  - 

 

    31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Associated company Domicile holding % holding % holding % 
M-Partners Ltd: Finland 0% 0% 0% 

 

M-Partners Ltd's financial information 

The financial statement of M-Partners Ltd has been prepared in accordance with the Finnish 
Accounting Standards (FAS), so the financial information presented in the table below has been 
prepared based on FAS. M-Partners Ltd has not prepared figures according to IFRS accounting 
standards for KoskiRent Oy's financial statements, even though KoskiRent Oy has significant influence, 
because KoskiRent Oy does not have a share to be consolidated using the equity method, and 
preparing information according to IFRS accounting standards at M-Partners Ltd would cause 
significant additional costs. 

 

(EUR thousand) 2024 2023 
Income statement information     
Revenue  14,748 13,025 
Profit for the period 12 35 
Balance sheet information     
Non-current assets 3,438 3,712 
Current assets 3,249 5,542 
Total assets 6,687 9,254 
Liabilities and equity      
Equity 2,500 2,228 
Non-current liabilities 945 1,501 
Current liabilities 3,242 5,526 
Total liabilities 4,187 7,027 
Total equity and liabilities 6,687 9,254 
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Going concern basis 

The Company's management and Board of Directors regularly review the company's financial and 
liquidity situation in Board meetings. According to the Board's estimate, the market situation and 
demand in the industry have remained unchanged or improved slightly. In 2023, the company started a 
process to strengthen the Company’s financial position. As part of the process, the company 
refinanced its previous debt financing, excluding vehicle financing, by issuing a secured EUR 50 000 
thousand bond during the financial year 2024 and invested some of the funds in a new daycare center 
in Turku. Some of the funds received were directed to a restricted account, from which the company 
can still finance investments required by new lease agreements that meet the conditions defined in the 
bond. The bond is subject to covenant conditions, which are further discussed in Note 21. Loans. At the 
same time, KoskiRent Group Oy made an investment in the reserve for invested unrestricted equity of 
EUR 3 350 thousand in KoskiRent Oy.  

After the reporting period ended 31 December 2024, the Company's operating expenses relative to 
rental income have been higher than normal due non-recurring costs of listing process and financing 
activities. The remaining cash flows enable interest payments to be covered, but planned investments 
require additional capital investments in the Company.  

During 2025 KoskiRent Group Oy has contributed to KoskiRent Oy’s reserve for invested unrestricted 
equity total of EUR 2 899 thousand of which EUR 1 197 thousand was received during the first quarter 
and the remaining amount was received in Q2/2025 and early Q3/2025.  

KoskiRent Group Oy, the Company’s parent, has received a total of EUR 507 thousand of new 
irrevocable commitments to equity subscription in early Q3/2025, that are not yet been paid from three 
different investors. KoskiRent Group Oy will invest these funds, when received during Q3/2025, to 
KoskiRent Oy’s reserve for invested unrestricted equity.  EUR 350 thousand of these irrevocable 
commitments are given by M-Partners Oy Ab, which is KoskiRent Oyj’s related party.  

Based on Bank of Finland’s forecast, management estimates that changes in market interest rates will 
be relatively small in until 2026, lowering the near future interest expenses from 2024. Management has 
prepared forecasts with different investment volumes for a 12 month period from  July 2025 onwards. If 
the Company does not invest in its module stock, fulfilling the maintenance covenants requires 
maintaining the module stock utilization rate at the current level, the continuation of rental income at 
current market rent levels, and, if necessary, the Company can utilize the external working capital loan 
option of up to the EUR 2 000 thousand as allowed by the bond terms.  

During 2025, day-to-day operations and new projects have progressed in line with the approved budget, 
but non-recurring expenses related to financing activities and listing preparations have exceeded 
managements’ initial estimates. Due to the higher than anticipated one-off costs and delays in 
obtaining new equity investments, the Company raised EUR 1 850 thousand of short-term debt in June 
2025 to meet the financial covenants of the bond from a group of lenders. This EUR 1 850 thousand 
short-term debt was paid back in July 2025. To secure its working capital needs, the Company received 
equity investment in June and July 2025 of EUR 1 075 thousand and entered into revolving loan 
agreements with a group of lenders under which the Company may draw funds up to the amount of EUR 
1 500 thousand with a maturity date of end of 2026. The loan agreements mature on 31 December 
2026, carry 3% p.a. reservation provision on whole amount and interest on a fixed rate of 18% on drawn 
amount and are unsecured. The equity contribution was made by the Company’s parent Koskirent 
Group Oy after the parent raised new equity from its former and new shareholders. 
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As the date of the approval of these financial statements, the Company expects its working capital to 
adequately cover all operating expenses and commitments for the next 12 months. Therefore, the 
financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis. 

To support new growth investments, KoskiRent Group Oy as sole owner of the Company aims to raise 
an additional EUR 1.4 million of equity during the second half of 2025, which would be invested to 
KoskiRent Oy’s equity. Currently, the Company holds approximately EUR 3.1 million in bond proceeds 
within a blocked escrow account, designated for new growth investments. Based on managements 
discussions with several investors the management of the Company estimates that the funding targets 
set in the financing plan can be achieved during 2025. However, there remains uncertainty in the real 
estate investment market as some open-ended real estate funds have deferred fulfilling investors’ 
redemption requests, which might affect also the KoskiRent Group’s ability to raise addional equity and 
invest the proceedings to the Issuer's equity and further potentially to carry out projected investments. 

The Company’s parent, KoskiRent Group Oy continues process to raise funds and invest them in its 
subsidiary KoskiRent Oy through invested unrestricted equity. The process aims to further strengthen 
KoskiRent Oy’s financial position and enable future new investments to support continued profitable 
growth.  

 

Foreign currency transactions  

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, the parent company’s functional 
currency.  

Transactions in foreign currencies are recognized at the exchange rate of the transaction date. Balance 
sheet assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are valued at the exchange rates at the 
end of the reporting period.  

Foreign exchange gains and losses related to business operations are recognized in other income and 
expenses. Exchange rate differences related to financing are recognized as financial income or 
expenses. 

 

Accounting principles requiring management judgment and key uncertainties related to estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to use judgment in selecting and 
applying accounting policies and make estimates and assumptions regarding the future. These affect 
the amount of assets and liabilities on the balance sheet and the amount of income and expenses on 
the income statement. 

When preparing financial statements, accounting estimates must be used, which, by default, rarely 
correspond to actual results. In addition, management must use judgment when applying accounting 
policies. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly as applicable. 

The following table presents the most significant areas of the financial statements that involve 
management judgment and key uncertainties related to estimates that may affect the preparation of 
the financial statements. More information on key uncertainties and judgments is provided in the 
related notes. 
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Topic of judgment Nature of judgment Note 
Lease agreements: Lessor Classification of leases 3 

Investments in module stock 
Valuation model and classification of modules as investment 
properties 13 

Group structure Control over M-Partners Ltd 1 

   
Topic of estimate Nature of estimate Note 
Lease agreements: Lessor Estimates of lease period 3 
Investments in module stock Assumptions and estimates used in fair value measurement 13 
Loan receivables Assumptions and estimates used in fair value measurement 17 

Provisions 
Estimates and interest rate used in determining the restoration 
provision 22 

 

 

New and amended standards and interpretations 
 

New or amended standards or interpretations that have been published but are not yet effective have 
not been applied prematurely.  

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements was published in April 2024. IFRS 18 
contains requirements for the presentation of financial statements and related disclosures and 
replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. The new standard takes effect on financial periods 
starting on or after 1 January 2027, and earlier application is allowed. IFRS 18 has not yet been 
approved in the EU. IFRS 18 does not change the recognition and measurement requirements and is 
only expected to impact the presentation method of financial information. 

New and amended standards and interpretations published by the IASB that come into effect in later 
reporting periods are not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements 
when applied. 

 

 

 

2 Segment information 
 

In accordance with its strategy, KoskiRent only operates in Finland and has one operating segment, 
which consists of renting and supplying buildings to public sector operators and maintaining these 
buildings. KoskiRent’s operations and profitability are reported as one operating segment, which is 
consistent with how KoskiRent’s operative business and monitoring of operational efficiency are 
organized. 
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3 Revenue 
 

Accounting principles 

Revenue consists of supplying and leasing relocatable premises, rental income from customers, and 
additional work agreed upon for rental properties. 

The premises are leased to cities, municipalities and other public sector actors. Most of the premises 
operate as schools and daycares, and, to a lesser extent, as leased premises connected to these or 
separate premises for the social and healthcare sector and other uses. Rented premises are assembled 
from relocatable and convertible modules into integrated space solutions. 

The installation, leasing, relocation, and land restoration of the facilities are not separate services, 
together they constitute one lease component, as the lease agreement commits to implementing the 
planned premises for the customer's use for a fixed period.  

A typical lease agreement that generates revenue requires the building to be delivered ready for the 
customer's use. Leases include restoration obligations after the lease term, which vary depending on 
the terms of the lease agreement. Restoration obligations consist of removing the modules from the 
land area administered by the municipality and any land and foundation restoration measures, if 
specifically agreed in the lease agreement and the related tender documents.  

Leases are fixed-term leases. In general, agreements are made with the terms and conditions specified 
in public procurement tenders, including an initial fixed lease period and the amount of rent. In 
addition, the agreements varyingly include options for extensions and terms of termination. When a 
lease includes extension or termination options, the realization of the options is estimated on a lease-
by-lease basis, and the lease term is determined based on this estimate. Extension and termination 
options are re-estimated when KoskiRent engages in continued interaction with the customer or there 
is a change in circumstances that is within the customer's control and affects how likely the options will 
be exercised. Potential customer purchase options are estimated on the same basis. 

The management's estimate of the impacts of possible lease options and extension periods are 
specified in Note 25. Financial risk management and Liquidity and refinancing risk.  

Classification and recognition of a lease 

When a contract is concluded, it is estimated whether the contract is a lease or whether it contains a 
lease. All leases in which the group is a lessor are classified as either finance leases or operating 
leases. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset, and as an operating lease if the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset are not substantially transferred. The lease is classified 
at the inception of the lease and is re-estimated only if the lease is modified.  

When classifying a lease, the following aspects are considered, which would lead to the classification 
of the lease as a finance lease: 

1. Ownership of the underlying asset is transferred to the lessee by the end of the lease term. 
2. The lessee has the right to purchase the underlying asset at a price that is expected to be so 

advantageous that exercising the option is reasonably certain. 
3. The lease term covers most of the total useful life of the underlying asset. 
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4. The present value of the lease payments amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value of 
the underlying asset. 

5. The underlying asset is so specific that only the lessee can use it without significant changes. 
6. If the lessee can terminate the lease agreement, the lessee bears the losses incurred by the 

lessor as a result of the termination. 
7. The lessee benefits from gains or losses arising from changes in the residual asset's fair value.  
8. The lessee can extend the lease for an additional period at a rent significantly below the market 

rent. 

None of the leases meet the classification criteria for a finance lease, so all leases are operating leases. 
Rental income received and separately invoiced additional work orders are recognized as rental 
revenue in equal installments over the lease term, as the lease agreement commits to providing the 
premises according to plan for the customer's use for a fixed period.  

The invoicing and revenue recognition timing of lease agreements may differ. Rent receivables arise 
when revenue is recognized before invoicing. Advances received are generated when rent payments are 
received from the customer before the rental income is recognized. Rent receivables are described in 
more detail in Note 18. Trade and other receivables More details on advances received, see Note 23. 
Advances received, accounts payable and other liabilities 

 

Recognition of rental income in revenue 

Rental income will be recognized in revenue during future financial years as follows:  

(EUR thousand) 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 Later Total 
Recognized 6,924 5,422 4,717 2,000 808 427 427 2,845 23,570 

 

KoskiRent had three customers in the financial year 2024 and five customers in the financial year 2023, 
whose revenue exceeds 10% of total revenue. The combined share of these customers in revenue was 
46.56% in the financial year 2024 and 72.11% in the financial year 2023. 

The management's estimate of the impacts of possible lease option and extension periods are 
specified in Note 25. Financial risk management and Liquidity and refinancing risk.  

 

 

 

Management judgment and estimates 

The classification of a lease as an operating lease or a finance lease requires management to estimate 
the above-mentioned eight criteria. The substance of the transaction is estimated rather than the form 
of the agreement when classifying. 

The premise for concluding a lease agreement is that the investment generates sufficient rental income 
relative to the lease term and that the property can be re-leased after the end of the lease term. 
Buildings can be freely sold during or after the lease term or when the customer uses the purchase 
option specified in the lease agreement, allowing KoskiRent to receive one-off sales income. In two 
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current lease agreements, the customer has a purchase option for the building after the lease period. 
According to management's estimate, the selling prices of the purchase options correspond to the 
value of the property to the seller, including the obligations related to the maintenance, relocation and 
re-leasing of the property that cease when the building is sold. The selling price of the purchase option 
is estimated to be the same as if the customer acquired a similar building from a third party.  

Some lease agreements include extension and termination options that require management estimate. 
When estimating the length of the conclusive lease term, the management bases its estimate on 
discussions with customers about the duration of the need. During the lease, KoskiRent communicates 
continuously with customers regarding their needs and plans. In addition, the estimate is affected by 
factors such as end-user feedback and experiences, the customer's real estate strategy, public 
population forecasts, the characteristics of the land used by the building, the terms of the building 
permit for the land, the customer's financial situation, and other customer-specific estimate. The 
management's estimate of the total lease period affects the timing of revenue recognition. 
Management estimates may differ significantly from the outcome. 
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4 Maintenance and repair costs 
 

Accounting principles 

Maintenance and repair costs consist of keeping the modules in the condition specified in the lease 
agreement. The costs include, for example, personnel costs, external services and depreciation.  

 

Breakdown of maintenance and repair costs 
 

(EUR thousand) 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 

2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 

2023 
Personnel expenses  -63  -66 

   
Maintenance costs   
Costs of external services  -144  -96 
Restoration costs exceeding the recorded provision  -258 – 
Depreciation   -9 – 
Other costs  -10  -31 
Total  -421  -127 

   
Repair costs   
Costs of external services  -19  -43 
Other costs –  -5 
Total  -19  -48 

   
Total  -502  -241 

 

Maintenance and repair expenses include costs related to modules whose lease has expired. These 
modules are in storage awaiting re-rental and have not generated rental income during the storage 
period. The cost of storage has not been significant. 

 
 

5 Change in fair value 
 

Accounting principles 

After initial recognition, KoskiRent values the modules treated as investment properties at fair value. 
Changes in fair value are recognized through profit or loss in the reporting period in which they arise.  

Restoration provisions are presented as part of the acquisition cost of the modules. Changes in 
restoration provisions are reflected in the income statement as part of the change in the fair value of the 
modules.  

Gains and losses on the disposal of modules are presented in the income statement as part of the 
change in fair value. 
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Note 13. Investments in the module stock and advance payments explains in fair value measurement in 
more detail and Note 22. Provisions explains the restoration provisions in more detail. 

 

Breakdown of changes in fair value 

(EUR thousand) 1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 2024 1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 2023 
Change in the value of the module stock  -8,269 274 
Total  -8,269 274 

 

The change in fair value consists of investments in new and old modules, write-downs of certain 
modules removed from leasing use, where management feels a modernization expenditure will not 
achieve a sufficient return target, considering the necessary investments, the impact of changes in 
provisions, and changes in calculation parameters. 

 

6 Sales and marketing expenses 
 

Accounting principles 

Sales and marketing expenses are related to activities that promote new sales, as well as the re-
leasing, marketing and visibility of returned rental modules. Expenses consist, for example, of external 
services, personnel costs and depreciation.  

 

Breakdown of sales and marketing expenses 

(EUR thousand) 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 

2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 

2023 
Costs of external services  -149  -93 
Personnel expenses  -153  -168 
Depreciation   -24  -15 
Other costs  -22  -12 
Total  -347  -287 

 

 

7 Administrative expenses 
 

Accounting principles 

Administrative expenses are related to KoskiRent's administration and fulfillment of statutory 
obligations. Administrative expenses include, for example, personnel costs, external services and 
depreciation and amortization.  
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Breakdown of administrative expenses 

(EUR thousand) 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 

2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 

2023 
Legal and consulting service costs  -622  -100 
Financial administration service costs  -113  -46 
Personnel expenses  -291  -234 
Depreciation and amortization  -83  -40 
Software costs  -35  -22 
Other costs  -111  -142 
Total  -1,254  -584 

 

Auditor’s fees  

(EUR thousand) 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 

2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 

2023 
Audit  -36  -21 
Assignments referred to in section 1.1, paragraph 2 of the Auditing Act  -1 –  
Tax advice  -17  -28 
Other services  -227  -1 
Total  -281  -50 

 

 

8 Breakdown by nature of expense 
 

Accounting principles 

The expenses in the income statement are presented by function, as this presentation provides more 
detailed information of the module stock’s recurring maintenance costs, as well as sales, 
administration and other expenses related to KoskiRent's business. In addition, segment-specific 
reporting improves KoskiRent's comparability with other companies operating in a similar business. 
Below is the group's income statement presented by nature of expense. 

Breakdown by nature of expense 

(EUR thousand) 1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 2024 1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 2023 
Material and service costs  -452  -166 
Personnel expenses  -505  -468 
Depreciation   -115  -54 
Other costs  -1,092  -426 
Total  -2,164  -1,114 
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9 Personnel expenses 
 

Accounting principles 

Personnel costs include short-term employee benefits and post-employment benefits. 

Short-term employee benefits include salaries, remuneration, bonuses, fringe benefits, annual leave, 
and other indirect personal costs, as well as non-monetary benefits. Short-term employee benefits are 
recognized in the period in which the work is performed.  

Post-employment benefits are paid to recipients after employment is terminated. In the group, these 
benefits consist of pensions.  

Pension plans are classified as either defined contribution plans or defined benefit plans. Defined 
contribution plans refer to a pension plan in which the company pays fixed contributions to a pension 
insurance company and no longer has legal or de facto obligations to pay additional contributions if the 
contributor does not have sufficient resources to pay all pension benefits. All other pension plans are 
defined benefit plans. 

The group only has defined contribution pension plans, and at the end of the reporting period, the group 
had no supplementary pension plans or related obligations or agreements in force. The pension 
arrangements are managed by external pension insurance companies. The contributions of the defined 
contribution plan are recognized as an expense for the period in which the service is provided. 

 

Breakdown of personnel costs 

(EUR thousand) 1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 2024 1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 2023 
Wages and salaries  -325  -302 
Pension costs  -121  -117 
Other indirect employee costs  -61  -49 
Total  -506  -468 

   

   
The average number of personnel during the financial year 9 7 

 

10 Other income and expenses 
 

Other income includes income not related to core business operations and financial income. Other 
expenses include non-financial expenses, sales, marketing and administrative expenses, as well as 
property maintenance and repair expenses.  

Other income and expenses include foreign exchange gains and losses related to actual operations, as 
well as gains and losses on the sale of tangible and intangible assets, compensation for damages and 
other punitive payments. 
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11 Financial income and expenses 
 

Accounting principles 

Financial income and expenses consist of interest expenses on debt capital and interest income on 
current accounts, as well as other financial income and expenses. Interest expenses are recognized 
based on the passage of time using the effective interest method. Interest expenses also include the 
discounting effect related to the restoration provision. The treatment of restoration provision is 
described in more detail in Note 22. Provisions. 

 

Breakdown of financial income and expenses 

(EUR thousand) 1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 2024 1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 2023 
Financial income   
Interest covering ratio 145 0 
Total financial income 145 0 

   
Financial expenses   
Interest expense on interest-bearing loans  -5,448  -2,598 
Interest expenses on lease liabilities  -11  -9 
Discount effect of the restoration provision  -35  -109 
Financing costs  -494  -103 
Other interest expenses  -56  -2 
Total financial expenses  -6,043  -2,820 

 
  

Change in fair value of loan receivables 221  -1,671 

 
  

Total financial income and expenses  -5,677  -4,491 
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12 Income taxes 
 

Accounting principles 

Income taxes consist of taxes based on the taxable income for the period and deferred taxes. Income 
taxes are calculated based on the applicable tax rate. Income taxes are recognized in the income 
statement unless the income tax relates to other comprehensive income items or items recognized 
directly in equity, in which case the income tax is recognized correspondingly in other comprehensive 
income items or directly in equity. 

Deferred taxes are calculated on the temporary differences between the book value and the tax base of 
the assets and liabilities presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized up to the amount corresponding to the likely taxable income arising in the future against 
which the deductible temporary differences can be offset.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset in accounting only if a legally enforceable right to offset tax 
assets and liabilities against each other based on the taxable income for the period exists and the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are related to income taxes levied by the same tax authority. 

Breakdown of income taxes 

(EUR thousand) 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 

Dec. 2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 

Dec. 2023 
Current tax expense –  -120 
Change in deferred taxes 1,884 26 
Total 1,884  -94 

 

Income tax reconciliation 

(EUR thousand) 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 

Dec. 2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 

Dec. 2023 
Profit before income tax  -9,298 295 

   
Income tax calculated at the Finnish tax rate, 20% 1,860  -59 
Tax-exempt income 0 0 
Non-deductible expenses  -1  -1 
Other items 26  -34 
Income taxes on the income statement 1,884  -94 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 

(EUR thousand) 
Deferred tax 

assets 
Deferred tax 

liabilities 
Deferred tax 

assets 
Deferred tax 

liabilities 
Deferred tax 

assets 
Deferred tax 

liabilities 
Fair value measurement of the 
module stock – 5,434 – 6,299 – 5,695 
Right-of-use assets – 41 – 47 – 13 
Intangible assets – 3 0 – – – 
Loan receivables 28 – 56 – – 294 
Revenue 516 46 568 46 520 70 

Bonds and other loans – 28 18 38 31 25 
Lease liabilities 52 – 47 – 13 – 
Provisions 443 – 416 – 328 – 
Depreciation in excess of plan – 326 – 994 – 1,138 
Tax losses 407 – – – – – 
Total before netting 1,445 5,878 1,106 7,423 891 7,235 

Netting of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities  -1,445  -1,445  -1,106  -1,106  -891  -891 
Total deferred tax assets and 
liabilities, net 

– 4,433 – 6,318 – 6,344 

 

 
Change in deferred taxes 

(EUR thousand) 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 

2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 

2023 
1 Jan. 6,318 6,344 
Recognized in profit or loss  -1,884  -26 
31 Dec. 4,433 6,318 

 

 

13 Investments in the module stock and advance payments 
 

Accounting principles 

Classification of modules as investment properties  

Investment properties are buildings that consist of modules. Investment properties are held to generate 
rental income.  

Rented premises are assembled from relocatable and convertible modules into integrated space 
solutions. Modules are classified as investment property, for example, on the following grounds: 

✓ The premises are leased for rental income purposes with operating leases 
✓ The facilities are equivalent to permanent buildings, and most of them are used as schools or 

day-cares. 
✓ The facilities are equivalent to permanent structures, which allows for flexible temporary and 

long-term use. 
✓ The premises are delivered to meet the needs of each customer, either from existing available 

modules in the portfolio or as new builds.  
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✓ Leased premises must meet the safety, technical and other requirements set by the authorities. 
✓ Constructing and assembling the premises on a plot designated by the customer requires either 

a temporary or permanent building permit. 
✓ The premises are subject to standard regulatory inspections during construction and operation.  

Premises can also be sold, thereby freeing up committed capital for the Group's financing needs. 
Facilities intended for sale are also classified as investment properties. On the balance sheet date of 31 
December 2024 and in the comparison period of 31 December 2023, the balance sheet's investment 
properties included no properties held for sale. 

Recording of modules and advance payments 

The acquisition cost of the modules is recorded on the balance sheet when the modules are handed 
over, at which point control is transferred to the Group and it can lease the premises to its customers. 
Payments made before the delivery are recognized in the balance sheet as prepaid expenses and 
presented as a separate item on the balance sheet. In connection with the delivery, these advance 
payments are reversed and capitalised on the balance sheet as investments in the module stock. 
Payments after delivery are recorded as a liability. Modules are initially valued at acquisition cost plus 
transaction costs.  

Measurement of modules 

In the valuation of investment properties, either the fair value model or the acquisition cost model can 
be selected after initial recognition. After initially recording the modules treated as investment 
properties at original acquisition cost, KoskiRent values them at fair value.  

The fair value of leased modules is determined on a case-by-case basis. The modules in stock are 
valued as a single unit when determining the fair value.  

Changes in fair value are recognized through profit or loss in the reporting period in which they arise.  

The book value of an investment property includes all fixed components of the arrangement, and assets 
are not double-counted or recorded separately on the balance sheet. Therefore, assets leased for the 
premises are not recognized as right-of-use assets on the balance sheet but are included in the value of 
the investment property. 

The module is derecognized from the balance sheet when it is disposed of or permanently 
decommissioned and no economic benefit is expected from its disposal. A capital gain or loss is 
obtained by deducting the balance sheet value of the previous reporting period from the sale price. 
Capital gains and losses are presented in the income statement as part of changes in fair value. 

Fair value measurement 

The fair value of the modules refers to the price independently estimated by an external authorized 
valuer (AKA). However, a fair value measurement is not an official AKA valuation. The valuation differs 
from the official AKA valuation in that the surroundings, area, title to real estate or leasehold of the 
relocatable building have not been processed separately, and not all properties have been inspected 
separately when making the valuation.  

The valuation is based on the discounted cash flow method (DCF method), in which the future 
estimated cash flows from the modules covered by contracts and after the contract periods are 
discounted to present value using parameters determined by an external valuer. Vacant modules are 
valued at market rent determined by an external valuer, including an assumption of underutilization.  
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The valuation of assets includes the following key inputs and assumptions when determining fair value:  

✓ The terms of the current lease agreements  
✓ Lease extensions: Assumptions about the extension of existing leases for a certain period. 
✓ Estimated market rents on the relocatable buildings market 
✓ Market's required return 
✓ Inflation  
✓ Discount rate 
✓ Assumption of underutilization 
✓ Estimated maintenance and repair costs 
✓ Relocation costs over the life cycle of modules  

Fair value hierarchy 

Investment properties measured at fair value are classified based on the amount of inputs used in the 
valuation methods. Three hierarchy levels are used in the classification. The hierarchical levels are 
based on how much the inputs used need to be estimated when determining the fair value of 
investment properties.  

The levels used are defined as follows: 

Level 1: The fair values of investment properties are based on quoted prices for similar assets in active 
markets. 

Level 2: For investment properties not subject to trading on an active market, fair value is determined 
using a valuation method. The methods use observable market data. If all significant inputs necessary 
to measure the fair value of the investment property are observable, the investment property is 
classified as level 2.  

Level 3: For investment properties not subject to trading on an active market, fair value is determined 
using a valuation method. The methods use observable market data. An investment property is 
classified as level 3 if one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data. 

The fair value of the modules is classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.  

 

Management judgment and estimates 

The classification of modules as investment properties is based on the management's overall estimate 
of, among other things, technical suitability, intended use, income and life cycle, as defined in the 
classification criteria. The classification criteria are described in more detail in the accounting 
principles under the section 'classification of modules as investment properties'.  

The modules are acquired, owned, maintained and leased to various customers to generate rental 
income in the long term.  

After initial recognition, the selection of the accounting policy applied to the module requires 
management's judgment to use either the fair value model or the acquisition cost model. An entity that 
has adopted the fair value model should not normally switch to the acquisition cost model later.  
KoskiRent's management has decided to value investment properties at fair value after initial 
recognition. 
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Determining the fair value of investment properties requires significant management estimates and 
assumptions. The estimates and assumptions relate in particular to future rent levels, the extension of 
contract periods, vacancy periods between the expiry of an old contract and re-leasing, estimates of 
maintenance, repair and modernization costs, and relocation costs when properties are moved to new 
locations for leasing. 

 

Reconciliation of the module stock 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 

Fair value 1 Jan. 74,620 58,410 
Investments in new modules 10,743 15,009 
Modernization expenditure 5,604 593 
Changes to the restoration provision 596 334 
Right-of-use assets 51 – 
Change in fair value  -8,269 274 
Fair value 31 Dec. 83,345 74,620 

 

The items presented in the reconciliation calculation, investments in new modules and modernization 
costs, include the acquired new modules and subcontracted work to bring the leased properties to the 
level agreed on in the lease agreements.  

Investments in new modules and modernization expenditure include acquisitions from M-Partners Ltd 
totaling EUR 10,633 thousand in the financial year 2024 and EUR 8,206 thousand in the financial year 
2023. 

No lease agreements expired and no transfers of properties took place during the financial year 2023. In 
the financial year 2024, lease agreements expired, and the leased buildings were relocated and re-
leased. The modules that were in storage and leased to Kaarina from 1 August 2024, were modernized 
during fiscal years 2023 and 2024. In the financial year 2024, modifications required for the intended 
use were made to the modules leased to the Defence Forces, which had been leased to the City of 
Rauma until the summer of 2024. In addition, the investment includes the relocation of a school 
building from Vihti to Teuva and the relocation of a property previously used as technical work 
classrooms in Rauma to a youth workshop in Rauma.  

Significant modernization costs in the module stock increase acquisition cost and affect the change in 
fair value if fair value valuation does not correspondingly increase the calculation parameters of the 
modernized properties. If the new estimated increase in the modules’ fair value after the modernization 
is less than the modernization costs, a negative change in fair value will arise. Correspondingly, if the 
new estimated increase in fair value is greater than the modernization costs, the change in fair value is 
positive. 
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Reconciliation of advance payments 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 

Advance payments 1 Jan. 3,883 5,623 
Increases 319 8,526 
Decreases  -4,201  -10,265 
Advance payments 31 Dec. 2 3,883 

 

No advance payments had been made to M-Partners Ltd at the end of the financial year 2024. At the 
end of the financial year 2023, the advance payments to M-Partners Ltd amounted to EUR 3,543 
thousand. 

 

Key input data for the module stock 

 
31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 

Required return, average % 6.72 6.67 6.61 
Inflation assumption, % 2 3 3 
Discount rate of cash flow, average % 8.72 9.67 9.61 
Cost growth assumption, % 3 3 3 
Assumption of contractless period, % 25 25 25 
Maintenance costs EUR/m2/month 0.15 0.15 0.15 
Maintenance costs EUR/space 150 150 150 
Repair costs EUR/m2/month 0.40 0.40 0.40 
Remaining lease term, average (years) 3.50 3.60 3.70 
    

 

Average value of the module stock in EUR/m2 

 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Average value EUR/m2 2,700 2,706 2,620 

 

Fair value sensitivity analysis of the module stock 

The following table illustrates how changes in the key calculation parameters of the module stock 
valued using the yield value method would affect the fair value when one parameter is changed at a 
time. In practice, changes often reflect on more than one variable simultaneously. 

The impact of potential changes in the fair value on the balance sheet at the end of the financial period 
on profit before taxes is presented in the table below. 
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Fair value sensitivity analysis 31 Dec. 2024 

(EUR thousand)                   

Required return % change -2% -2% -1% -1% 0% 1% 1% 2% 2% 

 18,976 13,670 8,785 4,181 –  -3,891  -7,520  -10,877  -13,992 

          
Market rents, change % -20% -15% -10% -5% 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 

  -13,573  -10,187  -6,769  -3,395 – 3,404 6,808 10,233 13,608 

          
Underutilization, % change -10% -8% -5% -3% 0% 3% 5% 8% 10% 

 9,095 6,808 4,543 2,286 –  -2,257  -4,534  -6,769  -9,068 
 

Fair value sensitivity analysis 31 Dec. 2023 

(EUR thousand)                   
Required return % change -2% -2% -1% -1% 0% 1% 1% 2% 2% 

 16,990 12,239 7,865 3,744 –  -3,484  -6,732  -9,738  -12,528 

          
Market rents, change % -20% -15% -10% -5% 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 

  -12,152  -9,121  -6,061  -3,040 – 3,048 6,096 9,162 12,183 

          
Underutilization, % change -10% -8% -5% -3% 0% 3% 5% 8% 10% 

 8,143 6,096 4,067 2,046 –  -2,021  -4,059  -6,061  -8,119 
 

Fair value sensitivity analysis 1 Jan. 2023 

(EUR thousand)                   
Required return % change -2% -2% -1% -1% 0% 1% 1% 2% 2% 

 13,299 9,580 6,157 2,930 –  -2,727  -5,270  -7,623  -9,806 

          
Market rents, change % -20% -15% -10% -5% 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 

  -9,513  -7,139  -4,744  -2,379 – 2,386 4,771 7,172 9,537 

          

Underutilization, % change -10% -8% -5% -3% 0% 3% 5% 8% 10% 

 6,374 4,771 3,184 1,602 –  -1,582  -3,177  -4,744  -6,355 
 

 

14 Tangible assets 
 

Accounting principles 

Tangible assets consist of machinery and equipment. 

Tangible assets are measured at original acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization 
and impairment losses. Tangible assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives as follows: 

Machinery and equipment  3-10 years  

On the reporting date, the residual values and useful lives of tangible assets are reviewed and adjusted 
if necessary, and an estimate is made as to whether there is any indication of impairment. Impairment 
is the amount by which the book value of an asset exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset. If the 
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book value of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the book value of the asset is 
reduced to correspond to the recoverable amount. 

Depending on the nature of the tangible asset, depreciation is presented as part of maintenance and 
repair expenses, administrative expenses, or sales and marketing expenses. Gains and losses on the 
sale of tangible assets are presented in other income and expenses. 

 

Reconciliation of tangible assets 

 Machinery and equipment 
(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan. 71 – 
Increases 144 71 
Acquisition cost, 31 Dec. 215 71 

   
Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments 1 Jan.  -13                 -   
Depreciation for the period  -35  -13 
Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments 31 Dec.  -48  -13 

 
  

Book value, 1 Jan. 58 – 
Book value, 31 Dec. 167 58 

 

 

15 Lease agreements: The lessee 
 

Accounting principles 

KoskiRent acts as a lessee and has leased business premises and company cars for its business 
operations. The lease agreements have been concluded under normal commercial terms. The lease 
agreements have a non-fixed term and include a rent increase option. Company car lease agreements 
are fixed-term and include a purchase option after the lease period. If a lease gives the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a specified period in exchange for consideration, a right-of-use asset 
and a lease liability are recognized on the balance sheet at the commencement of the agreement. 

Certain non-lease components, such as maintenance charges for leased premises, are not separated 
from the lease components, but each lease component and the related non-lease component are 
treated as a single lease component. 

At the commencement of the agreement, lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the 
lease payments payable during the lease period. The interest rate on additional credit is used as the 
discount rate when determining the present value of lease payments because the internal interest rate 
of the lease is not easily quantifiable. After the contract starts, lease liabilities are measured at 
amortized acquisition cost using the effective interest method. In addition, the carrying amount is 
remeasured if changes are made to the lease or if there is a change in the lease term or future lease 
payments. 
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The lease liability consists of the following items: 

✓ Fixed lease payments less lease-based incentives 
✓ Variable rents that depend on an index or price levels 
✓ Payments made based on residual value guarantees 
✓ The exercise price of the purchase option if it is reasonably certain that the option will be 

exercised 

Right-of-use assets are measured at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization and 
impairment losses adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. 

The acquisition cost of a right-of-use asset includes the following items: 

✓ Lease liabilities 
✓ Rents paid by the start date  
✓ Initial direct cost 
✓ Estimate of expenses arising from dismantling or restoring the underlying asset  

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over either their useful life or the lease term, 
whichever is shorter. The useful lives are as follows: 

Buildings   5 years  

Machinery and equipment  3 years 

KoskiRent applies practical exemptions, based on which payments from short-term and low-value 
leases are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term leases are 
agreements with a lease term of no more than 12 months. Low-value leases are contracts for which the 
value of the underlying asset when new is no more than EUR five thousand. 

In the cash flow statement, payments of lease liabilities and payments of interest related to lease 
liabilities are presented in cash flow from financing. The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is 
presented in Note 25. Financial risk management. 

 

Items included in the income statement 

(EUR thousand) 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 

2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 

2023 
Lease expenses from low-value assets  -3 – 
Lease expenses for short-term leases  -13  -27 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets: premises  -23  -10 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets: equipment  -35  -31 
Interest expenses on lease liabilities  -11  -9 

Total  -85  -77 
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Items included in the cash flow statement 

(EUR thousand) 
1 Jan. 2024 – 31 Dec. 

2024 
1 Jan. 2023 – 31 Dec. 

2023 
Repayment of lease liabilities  -56  -39 
Interest expenses on lease liabilities  -11  -9 
Total  -66  -48 

 

 

Right-of-use assets 

 Premises Machinery and equipment Total 

(EUR thousand) 
31 Dec. 

2024 
31 Dec. 

2023 
31 Dec. 

2024 
31 Dec. 

2023 
31 Dec. 

2024 
31 Dec. 

2023 
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan. 104 – 187 81 292 81 
Increases 63 104 1 107 64 211 
Decommissioning – –  -81 –  -81 – 
Acquisition cost, 31 Dec. 167 104 107 187 274 292 

       
Accumulated depreciation, 1  Jan.  -10 –  -47  -16  -57  -16 
Depreciation for the period  -23  -10  -33  -31  -56  -41 
Decommissioning – – 44 – 44 – 
Accumulated depreciation, 31 Dec. -33 -10 -35 -47 -69 -57 

       
Book value, 1 Jan. 94 – 141 65 235 65 
Book value, 31 Dec.  134 94 72 141 206 235 

 

Right-of-use assets, which are part of the investments in the module stock item, are specified in the 
module stock reconciliation calculation in Note 13. Investments in the module stock and advance 
payments. 

 

Lease liabilities 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Non-current 200 148 51 
Current 61 89 15 
Total 261 237 66 
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16 Intangible assets 
 

Accounting principles 

Intangible assets consist of development costs related to the building portfolio. Intangible assets are 
measured at original acquisition cost less accumulated amortization and impairments losses. 
Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Development costs   7 years  

Development costs are capitalized only if the following conditions are met: 

✓ The completion of the intangible asset is technically feasible.  
✓ The intention is to complete the intangible asset and use it or sell it. 
✓ The intangible asset can be used or sold. 
✓ The intangible asset will generate economic benefits in the future. 
✓ Adequate technical, financial and other resources are available to complete the intangible 

asset. 
✓ The costs of the development phase of the intangible asset can be measured reliably. 

At the reporting date, the useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed and adjusted if necessary, and 
an estimate is made as to whether there is any indication of impairment. Impairment is the amount by 
which the book value of an asset exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset. If the book value of an 
asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the book value of the asset is reduced to 
correspond to the recoverable amount. 

Depending on the nature of the intangible asset, amortization is presented as part of administrative 
expenses or sales and marketing expenses. Gains and losses on the sale of intangible assets are 
presented in other income and expenses. Intangible assets on the balance sheet consist of planned 
and approved product development work, which aims to ensure competitiveness as well as future cash 
flows and value creation.  

 

Reconciliation of intangible assets 

 Development costs 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan. 96 – 
Increases 190 96 
Acquisition cost, 31 Dec.  285 96 

   
Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments 1 Jan. – – 
Amortization for the period  -23 – 
Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments 31 Dec.  -23 – 

   
Book value, 1 Jan. 96 – 
Book value, 31 Dec. 263 96 

 

The capitalized development costs in the financial year 2023 relate to development projects completed 
during the financial year 2024, so amortization has started in the financial year 2024.  
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17 Loan receivables 
 

Accounting principles 

Loan receivables are interest-bearing receivables. The financial asset recognised in loan receivables 
does not meet the requirements for amortised cost valuation, as the loan receivable is a capital loan 
with a conversion option into shares, and is therefore classified at fair value through profit or loss. The 
loan receivable is recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. Changes in fair value and gains or losses on derecognition are recorded in financial 
income and expenses in the income statement. Loan receivables are presented as non-current assets 
if their maturity exceeds 12 months, and as current assets if the remaining maturity is less than 12 
months. 

 

Breakdown of balance sheet values 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 

Loan receivable from M-Partners Ltd 1,179 1,038 2,709 
Total 1,179 1,038 2,709 

 

KoskiRent Oy has granted M-Partners Ltd a Capital loan of EUR 1,000 thousand referred to in Section 
12:1 of the Limited Liability Companies Act. The loan has been granted to enable the production and 
delivery of new premises to be acquired. The loan has no maturity date and is unsecured. The 
outstanding principal of the loan accrues an annual interest of 8 percent until the loan principal and 
accrued interest have been repaid in full or converted into the company's shares.  

The subordinated loan was granted to M-Partners Ltd on 16 December 2019 without conversion rights 
into shares. A conversion right to M-Partners Ltd's shares was added to the subordinated loan 
agreement on 18 February 2021 for the outstanding capital as of 1 January 2024. In 2023, the boards of 
both KoskiRent Oy and M-Partners Ltd agreed that the conversion right of the subordinated loan will not 
be exercised in 2024 and the terms of the subordinated loan agreement were amended in 2024 by 
changing the starting date of the conversion right to 1 January 2027. 

According to management's estimate, M-Partners Ltd will likely be able to repay the loan before it is 
possible to convert it into shares, which has been considered in determining the fair value at the 
balance sheet date. 

The classification of loan receivables and the determination of fair value are described in more detail in 
Note 24. Classification and fair value of financial assets and liabilities. 

 

Management judgment and estimates 

Management has exercised judgment in selecting the method to measure the fair value of the loan 
receivable. The fair value measurement has been performed by an external party and has required 
management to make estimates of cash flows and probabilities.  
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Management has estimated M-Partners Ltd's ability to repay the loan based on discussions with M-
Partners Ltd and its owners, plans and materials requested and received, and considering M-Partners 
Ltd's current debt repayment schedule. 

 

18 Trade and other receivables 
 

Accounting principles 

Trade receivables are receivables from customers based on business operations. The most common 
payment term for trade receivable is 21 days, so they are current, non-interest-bearing receivables. 
Trade receivables are initially measured at invoiced value. Subsequently, they are measured at their 
expected realizable value less expected credit losses. Other receivables are non-interest-bearing other 
receivables and accrued income, such as rent receivables, which arise when revenue is recognized 
before invoicing. The book values of trade receivables and other receivables correspond to their fair 
values due to the short maturity of the items.  

The age distribution of trade receivables is presented in Note 25. Financial risk management. 

 

Breakdown of balance sheet values 

Non-current    

    
(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Other receivables 4 8 2 
Accrued income 176 135 228 
Total 180 143 229 

 

Current    

    
(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Trade receivables 83 168 255 
Other receivables 6 429 981 
Accrued income 112 113 135 
Total 201 711 1,372 

 

Key items in accrued income    

    
(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Other expense advances 18 17 – 
Rent receivables 228 232 350 
Other accrued income 42 0 13 
Total 288 249 363 
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19 Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 
 

Accounting principles 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and at banks as well as deposits with a maturity of no 
more than three months at the time of acquisition.  

Restricted cash represents funds whose usage is restricted based on bond terms and that are pledged 
as collateral for the loan. The funds have been generated from proceeds received in connection with the 
bond issues. Restricted cash can be used to finance investments that meet certain conditions. The use 
of restricted cash requires the approval of the financier's representative. 

Restricted cash is presented in current assets if its estimated withdrawal to finance investments, 
according to management's estimate, is within 12 months. If the withdrawal is not expected to occur 
within 12 months, that share of restricted cash is presented as non-current assets. 

 

Breakdown of balance sheet values 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Current    
Restricted cash 4,327 – – 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,686 0 131 
Total 6,013 0 131 

 

Use of restricted cash for investments 

KoskiRent Oy may withdraw restricted cash for investments in modules or for the cost of relocating 
modules, provided that the lease agreement for these modules meets the following conditions:  

i) Depending on the length of the rental period 

a) A signed lease agreement for at least 48 months: At least a 20% annual rental yield on restricted 
cash assets that are withdrawn or 

b) A signed lease agreement for at least 96 months: At least a 18% annual rental yield on restricted 
cash assets that are withdrawn. 

ii) The restricted cash withdrawn for the investment does not exceed 70% of the total amount of the new 
investment. 

iii) The withdrawal of restricted cash does not trigger a default. 

The total amount of restricted cash used for investments during the financial year 2024 is EUR 2,251 
thousand. 
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20 Equity 
 

Accounting principles 

Shares and share capital 

KoskiRent Oy’s shares are divided into series A and series B shares. Each series A share entitles the 
shareholder to one vote at the shareholder’s meeting. Series B shares differ from series A shares, for 
example, in that series B shares do not have voting rights or rights to dividends. According to the Articles 
of Association, the shares have no nominal value, and the company has no minimum or maximum 
share capital. 

The share capital includes the portion of the share subscription price that, according to the share issue 
decision, is not recorded in the reserve for invested unrestricted equity. The proportion of the share 
subscription price that is not allocated to share capital according to the share issue decision is 
recorded in the reserve for invested unrestricted equity. Accumulated retained earnings include 
cumulative profits and losses from previous years. 

Share exchange 2024 

KoskiRent Oy's ownership was transferred to KoskiRent Group Oy in June 2024 in connection with a 
change of ownership. The previous owners of KoskiRent Oy own KoskiRent Group Oy in proportion to 
their previous holdings. The share exchange was carried out as part of the bond issue, and the terms 
and conditions of the bond. The share exchange had no impact on the company’s operations. 

Dividend proposal 

The parent company’s distributable equity as of the end of the financial year on 31 December 2024, was 
EUR 9,993,419.43, of which the loss for the financial year was EUR 1,884,938.43. 

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend be distributed for the 
past financial year and that the result for the financial year be recorded in the retained earnings 
account. 

 

Changes in shares, share capital and the reserve for invested unrestricted equity 

(EUR thousand) 
Number of 

series A shares 
Number of 

series B shares 

Share capital 
(EUR 

thousand) 

Reserve for 
invested 

unrestricted 
equity (EUR 

thousand) 
1 Jan. 2023 22,328 1 3 5,746 
Share issue, net of transaction costs 762  

 884 
31 Dec. 2023 23,090 1 3 6,630 
Investment in unrestricted equity without share consideration    3,030 
Conversion of loans into reserve for invested unrestricted equity*    1,150 
31 Dec. 2024 23,090 1 3 10,810 

 

* In connection with the bond issue, loan liabilities of EUR 1,150 thousand were transferred from KoskiRent Oy to KoskiRent Group Oy, and the 
resulting receivables were converted into a reserve for invested unrestricted equity. 
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The 762 shares paid in 2023 from the share issue carried out in 2023 have been registered in the 2024 
financial year. 

At the end of the financial year 2024, KoskiRent Oy has 23,090 series A shares and one series B share, a 
total of 23,091 shares, which constitute KoskiRent Oy's share capital. The entire share capital is owned 
by KoskiRent Group Oy. 

 

21 Loans  
 

Accounting principles 

Loans are recognized initially at fair value less transaction costs and any discount on the loan issue. 
Subsequently, loans are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The 
difference between the amount of debt raised and the recorded amount, net of transaction costs and 
issue discounts, is amortized as interest expense in the income statement over the loan term. 

Loans are classified as non-current or current liabilities based on their maturity date. A loan or part of it 
is classified as current when the obligation to repay is within 12 months of the balance sheet date. 
Loans that include covenants are classified as current if the covenants are breached before the end of 
the reporting period, allowing the lender to demand immediate repayment. 

A loan is derecognized when the related obligations have been met, canceled or expired. 

Material changes to the terms and conditions of an existing loan are treated as an amortization of the 
original loan and the recognition of a new financial liability. 

Loans with warrants are equity instruments if the warrant commitment allows the purchase of a fixed 
number of shares for a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets. The difference between the 
nominal value and the fair value of the loan is initially recorded in retained earnings. Transaction costs 
are allocated to debt and equity components in proportion to their original carrying amounts. After 
initial recognition, interest-bearing liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.  

 

Financing arrangements and bond 

KoskiRent Oy issued a bond on 28 June 2024, and all of the company's financial liabilities outstanding 
at the end of the financial year on 31 December 2023 were paid off in a transaction on 10 July 2024, 
excluding vehicle financing. The new financing agreement is a secured bond with a nominal value of 
EUR 50 million. In addition, the parent company KoskiRent Group Oy made a gratuitous EUR 3.35 
million equity investment in KoskiRent Oy in connection with the bond issue. Of the investment, EUR 
2.2 million was paid in cash and EUR 1.15 million was paid by converting receivables arising from the 
transfer of KoskiRent Oy's loan liabilities to KoskiRent Group Oy. The investment fulfilled the drawdown 
condition for bond financing. According to the terms of the financing agreement, KoskiRent Oy has the 
option to increase the nominal value of the issued bond by a maximum of EUR 25 million.  

In December 2024, the parent company KoskiRent Group Oy made a gratuitous equity investment of 
EUR 830 thousand in KoskiRent Oy to finance new investments. 
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The bond is listed on the Frankfurt Open Market and, in addition, the company will apply for listing of its 
bond on Nasdaq Helsinki. According to bond terms the listing on Nasdaq Helsinki was due on 28 June 
2025, but the listing will be carried out before 18 July 2025 in accordance with the bond terms. Delay in 
the listing was caused by securing sufficient level of working capital for next twelve months, which was 
confirmed in early July 2025. The delay was caused by prolonged negotiations with current and new 
investors of KoskiRent Group Oy, who is making the all the equity injections as sole owner of the 
company. The maturity of the bond is 28 June 2027. The terms and conditions of the bond are published 
and available on the company’s website www.modulo.fi/investors  

The terms of the bond 

Bond 
     (EUR thousand) 

       Balance sheet value  

Date of issue 

Final 
maturity 

date Interest, % Currency Nominal value 
31 Dec. 

2024 
31 Dec. 

2023 
1 Jan. 
2023 

28 Jun. 2024 28 Jun. 2027 EURIBOR 3 months + 5.5 EUR 50,000 47,831 - - 
Bond covenants 

(EUR thousand) Definition Covenant condition 
31 Dec. 

2024 
Cash covenant  Unrestricted cash reserves At least EUR 1,500,000 1,686 

Loan to value ratio, %  (Interest-bearing debt - Cash and cash equivalents) / Investment properties x 100 Under 65% 51.1% 

Interest covering ratio (ICR)* 
Pro forma adjusted EBITDA according to the financing agreement / Pro forma 
adjusted net financial expenses according to the financing agreement 

At least 1.5 1.7  

 
*The interest margin calculated based on loan terms differs from the interest margin presented in the key indicators, so that 
rental income from new, eligible contracts is included as pro forma figures for the entire LTM period. Pro forma-adjusted net 
financial expenses do not include refinancing costs. 

 
In addition, the loan terms include payment restrictions that prohibit dividend payments, acquisition of 
own shares, return of equity investments to shareholders, repayment of subordinated loans, granting of 
loans outside the group, payment of shareholder loans or their interest, or other reciprocal payments in 
which the company's assets are transferred to its direct or indirect owners.  

Covenants are tested in connection with the quarterly report based on the covenant calculation 
provided to the security agent. Covenants are tested on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September, and 31 
December. Management and the Board of Directors prepare forecasts and alternative scenarios to 
review the fulfillment of covenants. Based on the cash flow forecasts, management has estimated that 
the company will be able to meet its obligations over the next 12 months. 

The bond covenants were met at each testing date on 30 June 2024, 30 September 2024 and 31 
December 2024. 

 

Other loans 

Other loans consist of secured loans under a common security agreement, other secured loans and 
unsecured loans. All loans, excluding hire purchase financing, were repaid with the refinancing 
completed on 10 July 2024. 
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Some of the other loans included a warrant commitment, which allowed the purchase of a fixed 
number of shares for a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets. For loans with a warrant 
commitment, the difference between the nominal value and the fair value of the loan is initially 
recognized in retained earnings. There are no warrant commitments on the balance sheet date, 31 
December 2024. 

The secured loans under the common security agreement included a covenant. According to the 
covenant, the ratio of net financial expenses to EBITDA must not exceed 40% at any time in the 12 
months preceding the review date. At the time of reporting, 31 December 2022, this covenant was met. 
At the time of reporting, 31 December 2023, this covenant was not met.  

In addition, one loan drawn in fiscal year 2023 included an equity ratio covenant, which requires the 
equity ratio to exceed 28%. The covenant related to the equity ratio was not met. In the 2023 financial 
statements, all secured loans under the common security agreement and other secured and unsecured 
loans, excluding hire purchase financing, have been classified as current due to a breach of covenant.  

The aforementioned, previously breached covenants were not met again until the refinancing on 10 July 
2024, at which point they ceased due to the repayment of liabilities. 

Terms of other loans 

  Balance sheet value (EUR thousand) 

  Interest, % 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Secured loans under the joint security agreement Euribor + 4.25-18 – 23,837 20,246 
Other secured loans Euribor + 7.5-9.9 542 2,033 1,426 
Unsecured loans Fixed 10-21  – 4,940 1,000 
Total   542 30,810 22,672 

 

The annualized ranges for loan rates include the impact of actual interest rates. The Euribor tying varied 
between 3 and 12 months. 

On the balance sheet date 31 December 2024, other secured loans include EUR 400 thousand of loans 
granted by key management personnel, which are disclosed in Note 27. Related party transactions. 

 

Nominal value of loans including loan covenants 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Total nominal value of loans 50,000 23,767 20,200 
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Changes in loans 

 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 

(EUR thousand) 
Bond 
loan Other loans 

Lease 
liabilities Other loans 

Lease 
liabilities 

Balance 1 Jan. – 30 810 237 22 672 66 
Changes due to cash flows from financing:          

Loan withdrawals 45 673 3 000 – 10 815 – 
Loan repayments -  -32 217 –  -2 685 – 
Expenses related to the issuance of the loan  -2 544 – – – – 
Payments of lease liabilities – –  -55 –  -39 
Interest payments  -2 322  -2 493  -11  -1 372  -9 

Total changes due to cash flows from financing 40 808  -31 710  -66 6 758  -48 
New leases – – 116 – 211 
Conversion of loans into reserve for invested 

unrestricted equity –  -1 150 – – – 
Recorded interest expenses 2 696 2 592 11 1 379 9 
Additions to restricted cash and cash equivalents 4 327 – – – – 
Other amendments – –  -37 – – 

Balance 31 Dec. 47,831 542 261 30,810 237 

 

Current and non-current loans 

 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 

(EUR thousand) Bond loan 
Other 
loans 

Lease 
liabilities 

Other 
loans 

Lease 
liabilities 

Other 
loans 

Lease 
liabilities 

Non-current 47,831 23 200 41 148 16,586 51 
Current - 520 61 30,769 89 6,086 15 
Total 47,831 542 261 30,810 237 22,672 66 

 

 

22 Provisions 
 

Accounting principles 

A provision is recognized when KoskiRent incurs a legal or actual obligation following a prior event, and 
fulfilling the obligation is likely to require a transfer of resources out of the group, and its amount can be 
reliably estimated. The amount to be recorded as a provision is based on the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation.  Provisions for which the related cash flows are expected 
to be generated more than one year from the date of recognition are discounted to their present value. 
The present value is updated at the time of reporting. 
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Restoration provision 

The Group has restoration obligations arising from the terms of lease agreements at the end of the 
agreement. Restoration obligations consist of removing the modules from the land area administered 
by the municipality and any land and foundation restoration measures, if specifically agreed in the 
lease agreement and the related tender documents. 

A provision is recorded for the restoration costs when the lease enters into force. Restoration costs are 
presented as part of Investments in the module stock, and changes in provisions are reflected as part of 
Change in fair value of the module stock. Investments in the module stock are specified in Note 13 
Investments in the module stock and advance payments 

 

Management's estimate 

Determining the restoration provision requires management to estimate the costs required to fulfill the 
obligation. The restoration cost estimate is based on an estimate of the costs of re-establishing the site, 
relocating the number of modules on the site to the next site or storage area, and the costs of restoring 
the land and dismantling above-ground foundations. The final costs of the restoration and their timing 
may differ from the original estimate. 

 

Changes in provisions 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Balance sheet value 1 Jan. 2,080 1,638 1,638 
Increases 577 334 – 
Provisions used during the financial year  -479 – – 
Impact of interest rates 35 109 – 
Balance sheet value 31 Dec. 2,213 2,080 1,638 

    
Non-current 1,869 1,635 1,638 
Current 344 445 – 
Total 2,213 2,080 1,638 

 

 
Sensitivity analysis of provisions 

The recording of the provision is based on realized costs and management's estimates of the removal of 
modules from the leased location and the restoration of the land area for each site. Factors affecting 
costs include, in particular, cost development in subcontracting and logistics, and to a lesser extent, 
cost development in earthworks or changes in the discount rate. 

The following table illustrates how potential changes in management's estimates of the calculation 
parameters for provisions impact earnings before taxes. 

 Impact on profit before taxes 
(EUR thousand) -10% -5% 5% 10% 
31 Dec. 2024  -221  -111 111 221 
31 Dec. 2023  -208  -104 104 208 
1 Jan. 2023  -164  -82 82 164 
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23 Advances received, accounts payable, other liabilities  
 

Accounting principles 

Advances received are generated when rent payments are received from the customer before the rental 
income is recognized. Accounts payable and other liabilities are liabilities relating to goods and 
services transferred to the Group before the end of the reporting period. Accounts payable and other 
liabilities consist mainly of liabilities to suppliers and employees. The advances received, accounts 
payable and other liabilities are considered to correspond to their fair values due to the short maturity 
of the items. 

Advances received, accounts payable and other liabilities are presented under non-current liabilities if 
their maturity exceeds 12 months, and under current liabilities if the remaining maturity is less than 12 
months.  

 

Breakdown of balance sheet values 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Non-current     
Advances received 2,038 2,207 2,079 
Accrued expenses – 270 270 
Advances received, accounts payable and other liabilities 2,038 2,477 2,349 

 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Current    
Advances received 750 633 522 
Accounts payable and other liabilities    

Accounts payable 2,319 3,007 1,825 
Other liabilities 135 18 12 
Accrued expenses 212 1,171 182 

Accounts payable and other liabilities 2,666 4,197 2,019 
Advances received, accounts payable and other liabilities 3,416 4,830 2,542 

 

Key items of accrued expenses and deferred income    
    
(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Holiday pay 70 48 29 
Indirect costs of salaries and holiday pay 42 43 – 
Interest expenses 78 930 58 
Income taxes – – 96 
Investments in the module stock 23 270 270 
Loan repayment costs – 151 – 
Total 212 1,441 452 
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24 Classification and fair value of financial assets and liabilities  
 

Accounting principles 

Financial assets and liabilities are classified upon initial recognition as either financial assets at 
amortized cost or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The classification is based on 
contractual cash flows and the objectives of the business model. Financial assets and liabilities are 
presented as non-current if their maturity exceeds 12 months, and as current if the remaining maturity 
is less than 12 months. 

Financial assets are derecognized from the balance sheet when the contractual rights to their cash 
flows have ceased or have been transferred outside the Group, and the material risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred outside the Group. A financial liability is derecognized when the 
related obligations have been met, canceled or expired. 

Liabilities measured at amortized cost 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are investments or receivables with cash flows that 
consist solely of payments of principal and interest. They are initially recognized at fair value, including 
transaction costs, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial 
assets measured at amortized cost include trade receivables, restricted cash and cash equivalents.  

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value less transaction 
costs and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities 
measured at amortized cost include issued bonds, lease liabilities, loans, accounts payable and other 
liabilities.  

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets recognized at fair value through profit or loss, as well as 
gains and losses on derecognition are recorded in financial income and expenses in the income 
statement. The impairment risk is included in the change in fair value.  

The financial asset measured at fair value through profit or loss is a subordinated loan with conversion 
rights to shares. The convertible bond is recorded in loan receivables on the balance sheet. More 
details on the loan receivable in Note 17. Loan receivables 

The Group has not had any financial liabilities recognized at fair value through profit or loss in the 
financial years 2023 or 2024. 

Fair value 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified based on the amount of inputs used 
in the valuation methods. Three hierarchy levels are used in the classification. The hierarchical levels 
are based on the extent to which the inputs used need to be estimated when determining the fair value 
of financial assets and liabilities.  

The levels used are defined as follows: 

Level 1: The fair values of financial instruments are based on quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets. 
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Level 2 and Level 3: For financial instruments not subject to trading on an active market, fair value is 
determined using a valuation method. The methods use observable market data and as little company-
specific estimates as possible. If all significant inputs necessary to measure the fair value of the 
financial instrument are observable, the instrument is classified as level 2.  

Level 3: For financial instruments not subject to trading on an active market, fair value is determined 
using a valuation method. The methods use observable market data and as little company-specific 
estimates as possible. A financial instrument is classified as level 3 if one or more significant input is 
not based on observable market data. 

The table below presents only the balance sheet values and fair values of loan receivables and bonds 
valued at fair value, as the carrying amounts of other financial assets and liabilities are estimated to 
correspond to their fair values.  

 

Balance sheet values and fair values of loan receivables and bonds, and the level in the fair value 
hierarchy 

  31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023  

(EUR thousand) Note 

Balance 
sheet 
values Fair values 

Balance 
sheet 
values Fair values 

Balance 
sheet 
values Fair values 

Fair value 
hierarchy 

The items recognised at fair value              
Loan receivable 18 1,179 1,179 1,038 1,038 2,709 2,709 3 
At amortized cost              

Bonds 22 47,831 49,250  -  - - -  1 
 

In measuring the fair value of the loan receivable, the debt and the option have been valued separately. 
The following valuation methods have been used: 

✓ The Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) method has been used to value the debt component. 
o Discounted future cash flows (interest payments and loan repayment)  

✓ The Black-Scholes model is used to measure the option 
✓ The market approach has been used in the valuation of equity. 
✓ The fair value of the loan receivable is the probability-weighted outcome of the loan repayment 

and the option being exercised 

As of the valuation date of 31 December 2024, KoskiRent Oy does not have a valid conversion right. 
According to the management’s estimate, M-Partners Ltd is likely to be able to repay the loan before it is 
possible to convert the loan into shares.  

The bond (ISIN: NO0013250647) is traded on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange (Börse Frankfurt). More information on the bond is available on Modulo’s investor site 
www.modulo.fi/sijoittajille, and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange’s Open Markets trading platform.  
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25 Financial risk management 
 

KoskiRent’s operations involve various financial risks. Financial risk management is part of business 
planning and operational management. Its purpose is to support the planning and practical 
implementation of the Group's short- and long-term strategic and financial goals. The Group strives to 
maintain appropriate operating principles and procedures in which financial risks are identified, 
estimated and managed following the objectives. The Board of Directors reviews and approves the 
operating principles concerning risk management. 

 

Market risks 

Currency risk 

KoskiRent’s business is not subject to significant currency risks. The Group's revenue consists of rental 
income, the payments of which are euro-denominated. The Group's expenses and investments are also 
denominated in euros, and they are agreed and paid in euros.  

Interest rate risk 

KoskiRent is exposed to interest rate risk mainly through its net interest-bearing liabilities. The Group’s 
net interest-bearing liabilities consist almost entirely of a floating rate secured bond, which is linked to 
the 3-month Euribor rate. The group continuously monitors the development of market rates. Interest 
rate risk management aims to reduce fluctuations in interest expenses in the income statement and 
improve the predictability of the group's cash flow. The Group monitors the adjusted interest coverage 
ratio (ICR), which is the ratio of adjusted EBITDA to adjusted financial expenses. Adjustments are non-
recurring items that are not directly linked to business operations or ongoing interest expenses on debt. 
The group is targeting an adjusted interest coverage ratio of over two in the long term. 

KoskiRent has no interest rate hedging instruments in use on the balance sheet date. 

 

Interest rate sensitivity 

 Impact on profit before taxes 
(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 

Increase 1%  -457  -108 
Decrease 1% 457 108 

For the 2024 financial year, the interest rate sensitivity calculation considers restricted cash assets, the 
return on which varies based on the market interest rate. 

 

Credit and counterparty risks 

Credit and counterparty risks are associated with all business relationships in which KoskiRent is 
exposed to risks that the counterparty's performance does not meet KoskiRent's requirements and 
contractual obligations. The risk typically arises in investment, financing and leasing transactions. The 
magnitude of the risk is determined by the size of the transaction and the creditworthiness and 
performance of the counterparty. 
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The aim of credit and counterparty risk management is to prevent and minimize damage and potential 
losses caused by counterparties and to estimate the probabilities and magnitude of the impacts before 
commitments are made. 

In investments, the counterparties are subcontractors, who are paid for completed work. 
Subcontractors' contribution to the delivery of leased properties and obtaining rental income is 
significant. KoskiRent estimates the subcontractors’ ability to fulfill their commitments before 
committing to delivering the rental object. The project personnel continuously monitors the progress of 
contracts and the completion schedule as the project progresses. The project personnel also plans and 
aims to secure an alternative contractor for the most critical tasks to minimize and eliminate any 
potential indirect impacts from the counterparties' performance. 

In financing transactions, the company's management and board of directors make a comprehensive 
estimate of the impact of the commitments on the company and the possible counterparty risk if the 
commitment given by the company does not produce the desired result.  

The company's customers are municipalities and public administration entities. Historically, the 
company has not experienced any credit losses in its customer base. Customers' solvency is expected 
to remain excellent going forward. The company monitors the payment periods of rental receivables 
regularly and takes the necessary collection measures to secure its receivables if customers do not 
comply with the agreed payment terms.  

 

Age distribution of trade and lease receivables  

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Current 81 168 255 
1–30 days overdue 1 – – 
Total 83 168 255 

 

 
Liquidity and refinancing risk 

KoskiRent's liquidity and refinancing risk refers to the risk related to the Group's operations and the 
repayment, extension, or refinancing of its issued bonds.  

Liquidity risk refers to the sufficiency of liquid assets in a situation where business conditions change 
and require capital investments. Liquidity risk management aims to maintain sufficient liquidity and 
ensure sufficiently rapid access to financing in all circumstances to reduce uncertainty. 

The company aims to maintain available liquid assets of at least 6 months' worth of operating and 
interest expenses. 

KoskiRent finances its current portfolio and the funding it needs with cash flow from operating 
activities. The financing of new investments will be carried out with cash flow from operating activities, 
debt financing and equity investments by the principal owner, KoskiRent Group Oy. KoskiRent Group 
Oy's task is to acquire the equity financing required by KoskiRent Group Oy by issuing new shares to be 
subscribed for by current and new owners. 

The company strives to be an active and reliable partner in the financial markets by continuously 
discussing and investigating various financing options. 
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Contractual maturities of financial liabilities 2024 

(EUR thousand) Book value Cash flow 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 
Financial liabilities        
Bonds 47,831 61,167* 4,484 4,484 52,199 – – 
Other loans 542 545 522 20 3 – – 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 2,319 2,319 2,319 – – – – 
Lease liabilities 261 289 74 103 51 39 23 
Total 50,953 64,320 7,399 4,607 52,253 39 23 

 
* The latest market rate quotation of 2.715% was used in the cash flow estimate for the bond. 

 

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities 2023 

(EUR thousand) Book value Cash flow 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 
Financial liabilities        
Other loans 30,810 33,002 32,955 18 18 11 – 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 3,277 3,277 3,007 270 – – – 
Lease liabilities 237 247 93 43 76 23 12 
Total 34,324 36,527 36,055 331 94 34 12 

 

 
Contractual maturities of financial liabilities 1 January 2023 

(EUR thousand) Book value Cash flow 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Later 
Financial liabilities         
Other loans 22,672 25,150 6,864 3,069 2,992 2,917 2,843 6,464 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 2,095 2,095 1,825 – 270 – – – 
Lease liabilities 66 70 17 53 – – – – 
Total 24,832 27,314 8,706 3,121 3,262 2,917 2,843 6,464 

 

In addition to the maturity distribution of financial liabilities, the extension options of current lease 
agreements, which management continuously estimates as part of its business operations, have a 
significant impact on the Company's liquidity and refinancing. The management's estimate includes 
the length of the extended lease period and the rent level, individually estimated for each valid lease 
agreement separately. Estimates include only existing agreements. The estimate does not include the 
re-leasing of modules released from lease agreements during the review period or modules in stock at 
the balance sheet date. Management’s estimates of the length of extension lease periods and their 
rental level contain significant uncertainty. 

Contractual maturities of lease receivables 2024 

(EUR thousand) 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Later 
Rents under contract 6,935 5,540 5,004 2,455 1,382 3,867 
Total 6,935 5,540 5,004 2,455 1,382 3,867 
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Contractual maturities of lease receivables 2023 

(EUR thousand) 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Later 
Rents under contract 5,468 4,332 2,790 2,490 969 4,131 
Total 5,468 4,332 2,790 2,490 969 4,131 

 

Contractual maturities of lease receivables 1 January 2023 

(EUR thousand) 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Later 
Rents under contract 5,290 4,450 3,483 2,603 2,331 4,909 
Total 5,290 4,450 3,483 2,603 2,331 4,909 

 

Capital management 

Capital management aims to ensure an efficient capital structure that guarantees KoskiRent's 
operating conditions on the capital markets in all circumstances, regardless of cyclical fluctuations in 
the industry. 

KoskiRent monitors the development of its capital structure by examining its loan-to-value ratio (LTV). 
The loan-to-value ratio represents the proportion of net liabilities in the value of investment properties. 

The company aims to improve its capital structure in the long term and maintain a loan-to-value ratio 
(LTV) of 40–60%. In addition, the company aims to achieve a sufficient interest income level to prepare 
for changes in market rates. 

 

Loan-to-value ratio and equity ratio 

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 
Loan to value, % 51.1% 39.5% 
Equity ratio, % 34.7% 43.7% 
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26 Off-balance sheet commitments and contingent liabilities 
 

A contingent liability is a possible liability that has arisen as a result of past events, and its existence is 
only confirmed when one or more uncertain events, which are not entirely under the Group's control, 
occur or do not occur in the future. In addition, a contingent liability is considered to be an existing 
obligation that has arisen as a result of past events but is not likely to require the fulfillment of a 
payment obligation, or the amount of which cannot be reliably determined.  

 

Off-balance sheet commitments  

(EUR thousand) 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 
Liabilities secured by pledges and mortgages    
Bonds 47,831 – – 
Other liabilities 542 25,870 21,672 
Total 48,373 25,870 21,672 

    
Collateral    
Enterprise mortgages 142,360 42,360 22,646 
Pledges  541 – – 
Pledges (installment debts) 42 58 – 
Total 142,360 42,360 22,646 

 

Unrecognized contractual obligations 

KoskiRent has a maintenance agreement with a subcontractor for periodic inspections and fault 
updates of the sites. The share of the unrecorded contractual obligation related to service and 
maintenance is EUR 38 thousand annually.  

In order to fulfil the obligations related to the signed lease agreements, KoskiRent has contractual 
commitments for the acquisition of module stock totalling EUR 1,324 thousand, of which commitments 
to M-Partners Ltd amount to EUR 1,206 thousand and to other subcontractors to EUR 118 thousand. 
Contract obligations are contractual commitments at the balance sheet date for work in progress on 
modernization and subcontracting works, and for new modules ordered but for which the invoicing 
basis has not yet been fulfilled. 

 

Real estate investments 

KoskiRent is obliged to revise the VAT deductions made on a real estate investment completed in 2018–
2024 if the taxable use of the property decreases during the review period. The last revision year for real 
estate investments completed during the 2024 financial year is 2033. 
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Revision responsibility     

(EUR thousand) 
Last year of 
revision 31 Dec. 2024 31 Dec. 2023 1 Jan. 2023 

VAT refund liability 2018 2027 345 460 556 
VAT refund liability 2019 2028 910 1,137 1,364 
VAT refund liability 2020 2029 460 552 644 
VAT refund liability 2021 2030 898 1,048 1,198 
VAT refund liability 2022 2031 1,373 1,569 1,766 
VAT refund liability 2023 2032 3,234 3,638 – 
VAT refund liability 2024 2033 2,364 – – 
Total   9,584 8,405 5,527 

 

27 Related party transactions 
 

Accounting principles 

KoskiRent Oy’s related parties include a person and entities under that person’s control, or a close 
family member of that person, if the person can exercise control or significant influence, or the person 
is a key person in KoskiRent Oy’s or KoskiRent Group Oy's management. An entity is considered a 
related party of KoskiRent Oy if the entity, either directly through KoskiRent Oy or indirectly through 
KoskiRent Group Oy, can exercise control or significant influence over decisions concerning finances 
and operations. 

Transactions with related parties have been made under customary commercial terms. Related party 
transactions include transactions with related parties that are not eliminated in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Related parties 

KoskiRent Oy’s related parties include its fully-owned parent company KoskiRent Group Oy 
(established on 14 June 2024), subsidiary KoskiRent Palvelut Oy (established on 5 December 2024), 
associated company M-Partners Ltd, and other related party companies.  

The contractual relationship between M-Partners Ltd and KoskiRent Oy is described in more detail in 
Note 1. Basis of presentation. The related party loan granted by KoskiRent Oy to M-Partners Ltd is 
presented in Notes 17. Credit claims and 21. Loans. 

KoskiRent Oy’s related parties include a person or that person’s close family member if the person has, 
either directly or indirectly through the parent company KoskiRent Group Oy, control, joint control, or 
significant influence over KoskiRent. KoskiRent Oy’s related parties include key management 
personnel, comprising the CEO, members of the Board of Directors, and the management team of both 
KoskiRent Oy and its parent company KoskiRent Group Oy, as well as their close family members and 
entities in which they have control or joint control. 
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Related party transactions and outstanding balances 

Related party transactions 1 Jan. - 31 Dec. 2024 

(EUR thousand) M-Partners Ltd 
KoskiRent 
Group Oy 

Key 
management 

Other related 
parties Total 

Selling of services 130 – – – 130 
Purchases of services 195 1 491* 2 688 
Purchases of assets 10,788 – – – 10,788 
Loans received and equity investments – 4,180 400 - 4,580 
Change in fair value of loan receivables 221 – – – 221 
Interest expenses 53 – 2 299 354 

 
*Services purchased from key management personnel or related companies controlled by them are one-off purchases of 
services related to the raising of finance. 

 

 

 

Related party transactions 1 Jan. - 31 Dec. 2023 

(EUR thousand) M-Partners Ltd Key management Total 
Purchases of services 6 92* 98 
Purchases of assets 11,879 – 11,879 
Change in fair value of loan receivables  -1,671 –  -1,671 
Interest expenses 311 300 610 

 
*Services purchased from key management personnel or related companies controlled by them are one-off purchases of 
services related to the raising of finance. 

 

Outstanding balances with related parties 31 Dec. 2024 

(EUR thousand) M-Partners Ltd Key management Total 
Loan receivables 1,179 – 1,179 
Other receivables 33 – 33 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 1,144 233 1,377 
Other loans – 400 400 

 

At the time of the financial statement on 31 December 2024, KoskiRent Oy has EUR 1,206 thousand of 
contingent debt to M-Partners Ltd, related to ordered work concerning old and new modules. 
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Outstanding balances with related parties 31 Dec. 2023 

(EUR thousand) M-Partners Ltd Key management Total 
Loan receivables 1,038 – 1,038 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 3,373 67 3,441 
Other loans – 3,746 3,746 

 

 
Outstanding balances with related parties 1 Jan. 2023 

(EUR thousand) M-Partners Ltd Key management Total 
Loan receivables 2,709 – 2,709 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 1,996 60 2,056 
Other loans – 700 700 

 
 

Key management compensation 

 CEO Rest of management team* Board of Directors Total 

(EUR thousand) 

1 Jan. 
2024 – 

31 Dec. 
2024 

1 Jan. 
2023 – 

31 Dec. 
2023 1 Mar. 2024 – 31 Dec. 2024 

1 Jan. 
2024 – 

31 Dec. 
2024 

1 Jan. 
2023 – 

31 Dec. 
2023 

1 Jan. 
2024 – 

31 Dec. 
2024 

1 Jan. 
2023 – 

31 Dec. 
2023 

Wages and salaries  -72  -59  -163  -30  -12  -265  -70 
Pension costs  -25  -24  -29 – –  -54  -24 
Other indirect employee costs  -5  -7  -4  -0 –  -9  -7 
Total  -103  -90  -196  -30  -12  -329  -101 

 
*Management Team as of 1 Mar. 2024 

 

28 Events after the reporting period 
 

At the beginning of the financial year 2025, rent payments for the two premises handed over to the 
Defence Forces commenced on 1 January 2025 and 1 March 2025. In addition, the new lease 
agreement for the property relocated within Rauma entered into force on 1 January 2025.  

Extension agreements were signed with customers for two existing lease agreements. 

The company has signed a lease agreement for a day-care building to be delivered to the city of Vaasa, 
with delivery scheduled in Q4 2025. 

The company has also signed a lease agreement for a school building to be delivered to the city of 
Seinäjoki with delivery schedule in Q3 2025. 

The company also handed over a day-care building for city of Kankaanpää, which starts yielding rental 
revenue in the beginning of August 2025. 
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Prolonged negotiations with investors subscribing for new shares in KoskiRent Group Oy, the 
Company’s parent, followed by equity contributions by KoskiRent Group Oy to KoskiRent Oy’s 
unrestricted equity, have led to the bond listing being carried out after the original deadline of June 28, 
2025. The Company is applying for the listing of the bonds to Nasdaq Helsinki before 18 July 2025 in 
accordance with the bond terms. 

In connection with the listing, the legal entity of the company changed to a public limited company in 
May 2025. 

At the beginning of 2025, KoskiRent Oyj and its sole owner KoskiRent Group Oy signed a cooperation 
agreement regarding the administration of KoskiRent Oyj by KoskiRent Group Oy. As a result, the 
Group's CEO and CFO employment transferred to KoskiRent Group Oy and continue to provide services 
to KoskiRent Oyj. Due to the cooperation agreement, KoskiRent Oyj's personnel costs will decrease, 
and other operating expenses will increase correspondingly. 

After the reporting period, the Company's operating expenses relative to rental income have been 
higher than normal due to non-recurring costs of listing process and financing activities. The remaining 
cash flows enable interest payments to be covered, but planned investments require additional capital 
investments in the Company.  

During 2025, day-to-day operations and new projects have progressed in line with the approved budget, 
but non-recurring expenses related to financing activities and listing preparations have exceeded 
managements’ initial estimates. Due to the higher than anticipated one-off costs and delays in 
obtaining new equity investments, the Company raised EUR 1 850 thousand of short-term debt in June 
2025 to meet the financial covenants of the bond from a group of lenders. This EUR 1 850 thousand 
short-term debt was paid back in July 2025. To secure its working capital needs, the Company received 
equity investment in June and July 2025 of EUR 1 075 thousand and entered into revolving loan 
agreements with a group of lenders under which the Company may draw funds up to the amount of EUR 
1 500 thousand with a maturity date of end of 2026. The loan agreements mature on 31 December 
2026, carry 3% p.a. reservation provision on whole amount and interest on a fixed rate of 18% on drawn 
amount and are unsecured. EUR 100 thousand of this revolving loan agreement is from Vakaan Tuoton 
Sijoitusyhtiö Oy, which is KoskiRent Oyj’s related party. The equity contribution was made by the 
Company’s parent KoskiRent Group Oy after the parent raised new equity from its former and new 
shareholders. 

KoskiRent Group Oy, the Company’s parent, has received a total of EUR 507 thousand of new 
irrevocable commitments to equity subscription in early Q3/2025, that are not yet been paid from three 
different investors. KoskiRent Group Oy will invest these funds, when received during Q3/2025, to 
KoskiRent Oy’s reserve for invested unrestricted equity. EUR 350 thousand of these irrevocable 
commitments are given by M-Partners Oy Ab, which is KoskiRent Oyj’s related party.  

KoskiRent Group Oy, the Company’s parent, continues the process started in the financial year 2024 to 
raise funds in order to invest them in KoskiRent Oyj through invested unrestricted equity. The goal of the 
process is to strengthen KoskiRent Oy’s financial position and enable future investments. 
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29 Transition to IFRS accounting standards 
 

KoskiRent publishes its first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS 
Accounting Standards adopted in the European Union for the financial year that ended on 31 December 
2024. The date of transition to IFRS was 1 January 2023. In the transition, KoskiRent has applied IFRS 1 
First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. No exemptions under IFRS 1 have 
been applied in the transition. 

KoskiRent Oy's group structure was formed during the financial year 2024, so the comparison data for 
the financial year 2023 and the opening balances on 1 January 2023 are the IFRS figures of the separate 
company KoskiRent Oy. In preparing the opening IFRS balance sheet, the financial statements prepared 
under FAS have been adjusted, as in preparing the 2024 FAS financial statements, the company has 
identified and corrected certain errors relating to prior periods. The adjustments made to the financial 
statements 2023 and the opening IFRS balance sheet have been made to the 2023 adjusted FAS 
financial statement data. The accounting principles described above have been applied in the 
preparation of the financial statements for 2023 and the opening IFRS balance sheet.  

Adjustments related to deferred taxes were recognized from IFRS adjustments. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized up to the amount corresponding to the likely taxable income arising in the future against 
which the deductible temporary differences can be offset. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
in accounting only if a legally enforceable right to offset tax assets and liabilities against each other 
based on the taxable income for the period exists and the deferred tax assets and liabilities are related 
to income taxes levied by the same tax authority. The netting of deferred taxes is presented in the other 
adjustments and reclassifications column in the following tables. 

KoskiRent Oy prepares an income statement by nature of expense and an income statement by 
function for the Group, so the conversion of KoskiRent Oy's income statement into an income 
statement by function is described in the first table. IFRS adjustments made in connection with the 
transition are described in the tables following it. 

https://sign.visma.net/fi/document-check/84d53159-6dca-411e-bfdc-13f9cb28bdf8

Electronically signed / Sähköisesti allekirjoitettu / Elektroniskt signerats / Elektronisk signert / Elektronisk underskrevet

www.vismasign.com



55 
 

Income statement by function 1 Jan. – 31 Dec. 2023 

(EUR thousand) 
FAS by nature of 
expense restatements 

restated FAS by 
nature of expense 

Materials and 
services 

Personnel 
expenses 

Depreciation, 
amortization and 
impairments 

Other operating 
expenses FAS by function 

Revenue 5,983 – 5,983         5,983 
Maintenance and repairs     -133  -65  -2,690  -43  -2,931 
Gross margin            3,053 
Sales and marketing costs     -19  -167  -6  -96  -288 
Administrative expenses     -16  -217  -13  -342  -588 
Other costs           -2  -2 
              

Production for own use 308  -308 –         – 

Materials and services   -273 102  -171 171 
   

– 

Personnel expenses  -655 206  -449   449 
  

– 

Depreciation, amortization and impairments  -2,709 –  -2,709   
 

2,709 
 

– 

Other operating expenses  -483 –  -483   
  

483 – 

          
   

 

Operating profit/loss 2,172 – 2,172 2 – – – 2,174 

             
 

Financial income 80 – 80         80 
Financial expenses  -2,657 –  -2,657  -2        -2,660 

Total financial income and expenses  -2,577 –  -2,577  -2 – – –  -2,580 

Profit before tax  -405 –  -405  -0 – – –  -405 

Appropriations 722 – 722         722 
Income taxes  -120 –  -120          -120 

Result for the period 197 – 197  -0 – – – 197 
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Income statement 1 Jan. – 31 Dec. 2023 

(EUR thousand) 
FAS by 

function 
Lessor 

(IFRS 16) 
Lessee 

(IFRS 16) 

Investments 
in module 

stock 
(IAS 40) 

Provisions 
(IAS 37) 

Development 
expenditure 

(IAS 38) 

Financial 
items 

(IFRS 9) Reclassifications 
Impacts of 

IFRS  IFRS 
Revenue 5,983  -357 – – – – – –  -357 5,626 
Maintenance and repairs  -2,931 – – 2,411 279 – – – 2,690  -241 
Gross margin 3,053                 5,385 
Change in fair value of the module stock – – – 274 – – – – 274 274 
Sales and marketing costs  -288 – 3 – –  -2 – – 1  -287 
Administrative expenses  -588 – 4 – – – – – 4  -584 
Other costs  -2 – – – – – – – –  -2 
Operating profit 2,174  -357 7 2,685 279  -2 – – 2,611 4,786 
Financial income 80 – – – – –  -80 –  -80 0 
Financial expenses  -2,660 –  -9 –  -109 1  -44 –  -160  -2,820 
Change in the fair value of loan receivables – – – – – –  -1,671 –  -1,671  -1,671 
Total financial income and expenses  -2,580 –  -9 –  -109 1  -1,795 –  -1,911  -4,491 

Result before income tax  -405  -357  -2 2,685 170  -0  -1,795 – 700 295 
Appropriations 722              -722  -722 – 
Income taxes  -120 71 0  -604 88 0 325 144 26  -94 
Result of the period / Total comprehensive income for the period  197  -286  -1 2,081 258  -0  -1,470  -578 4 201 

                   

Distribution of comprehensive income for the period            

 Shareholders of the parent company 197          201 
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Balance sheet 1 January 2023 

(EUR thousand) FAS balance sheet  restatements 

restated 
FAS 

balance 
sheet  

Lessor 
(IFRS 16) 

Lessee 
(IFRS 16) 

Investments in 
module stock 

(IAS 40) 
Provisions 

(IAS 37) 

Financial 
items (IFRS 

9) Reclassifications 
Impacts of 

IFRS  IFRS 
ASSETS                  
Non-current assets                  
Investments in module stock – – – – – 56,772 1,638 – – 58,410 58,410 
Advance payments – – – – – 5,623 – – – 5,623 5,623 
Tangible assets 35,457 101 35,558 – –  -35,558 – – –  -35,558 – 
Right-of-use assets – – – – 65 – – – – 65 65 
Intangible assets 834 – 834 – – –  -834 – –  -834 – 
Loan receivables 1,000 – 1,000 – – – – 1,709   1,709 2,709 
Deferred tax assets – – – 520 13 – 328 31  -891 0 0 
Trade and other receivables – – – 228 – – – – 2 229 229 
Total non-current assets 37,291 101 37,391 748 78 26,837 1,132 1,740  -890 29,645 67,036 
Current assets             
Trade and other receivables 1,491 – 1,491 122 – – –  -240  -2  -119 1,372 
Cash and cash equivalents 131 – 131 – – – – – – – 131 
Total current assets 1,623 – 1,623 122 – – –  -240  -2  -119 1,503 
Total assets 38,913 101 39,014 870 78 26,837 1,132 1,500  -891 29,525 68,539 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES               
EQUITY              
Share capital 3 – 3 – – – – – – – 3 
Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 5,746 – 5,746 – – – – – – – 5,746 
Retained earnings 1,293  -175 1,118  -1,801  -1 21,142 1,015 1,155 4,553 26,063 27,181 
Total equity 7,042  -175 6,867  -1,801  -1 21,142 1,015 1,155 4,553 26,063 32,930 
Accumulated appropriations 5,691  5,691        -5,691  -5,691 – 
LIABILITIES             
Non-current liabilities             
Other loans 16,560 – 16,560 –  – – 26 – 26 16,586 
Lease liabilities – – – – 51 – – – – 51 51 
Provisions 1,521 – 1,521 – – – 117 – – 117 1,638 
Deferred tax liabilities – – – 70 13 5,695 – 319 247 6,344 6,344 
Advances received – – – 2,079      2,079 2,079 
Accounts payable and other liabilities – 270 270 – –  – – – – 270 
Total non-current liabilities 18,081 270 18,351 2,149 64 5,695 117 345 247 8,616 26,967 
Current liabilities             
Other loans 6,086 – 6,086 – – – – – – – 6,086 
Lease liabilities – – – – 15 – – – – 15 15 
Advances received – – – 522 – – – – – 522 522 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 2,014 6 2,019 – –  – – – – 2,019 
Total current liabilities 8,099 6 8,105 522 15 – – – – 537 8,643 
Total liabilities 26,181 276 26,456 2,671 78 5,695 117 345 247 9,153 35,610 
Total equity and liabilities 38,913 101 39,014 870 78 26,837 1,132 1,500  -891 29,525 68,539 
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Balance sheet 31 December 2023 

(EUR thousand) FAS balance sheet restatements 

restated 
FAS 

balance 
sheet 

Lessor 
(IFRS 16) 

Lessee 
(IFRS 16) 

Investments 
in module 
stock (IAS 

40) 
Provisions 

(IAS 37) 

Development 
expenditure 

(IAS 38) 

Financial 
items 

(IFRS 9) Reclassifications 
Impacts of 

IFRS  IFRS 
ASSETS                    
Non-current assets                
Investments in module stock – – – – – 72,649 1,971 – – – 74,620 74,620 
Advance payments 859 – 859 – – 3,025 – – – – 3,025 3,883 
Tangible assets 46,039 95 46,134 – –  -46,076 – – – –  -46,076 58 
Right-of-use assets – – – – 235 – – – – – 235 235 
Intangible assets 800 – 800 – – –  -704  -0 – –  -704 96 
Loan receivables 1,000 – 1,000 – – – – – 38 – 38 1,038 
Deferred tax assets – – – 568 47 – 416 0 74  -1,106  -0  -0 
Trade and other receivables – – – 135 – – – – – 8 143 143 
Total non-current assets 48,698 95 48,793 703 282 29,597 1,684  -0 112  -1,098 31,280 80,073 
Current assets              
Trade and other receivables 942 – 942 96 – – – –  -320  -8  -232 711 
Income tax receivables 0 – 0 – – – – – – – – 0 
Cash and cash equivalents 0 – 0 – – – – – – – – 0 
Total current assets 943 – 943 96 – – – –  -320  -8  -232 711 
Total assets 49,641 95 49,736 800 282 29,597 1,684  -0  -208  -1,106 31,049 80,784 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES                
EQUITY               
Share capital 3 – 3 – – – – – – – – 3 
Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 6,630 – 6,630 – – – – – – – – 6,630 
Retained earnings 1,490  -175 1,315  -2,087  -2 23,223 1,273  -0  -297 3,975 26,085 27,400 
Total equity 8,123  -175 7,948  -2,087  -2 23,223 1,273  -0  -297 3,975 26,085 34,033 
Accumulated appropriations 4,969 – 4,969         -4,969  -4,969 – 
LIABILITIES              
Non-current liabilities              
Other loans 41 – 41 – – – – – 0 – 0 41 
Lease liabilities – – – – 148 – – – – – 148 148 
Provisions 1,670 – 1,670 – – –  -35 – – –  -35 1,635 
Deferred tax liabilities – – – 46 47 6,299  – 38  -112 6,318 6,318 
Advances received – – – 2,207 – – – – – – 2,207 2,207 
Accounts payable and other liabilities – 270 270 – – – – – – – – 270 
Total non-current liabilities 1,711 270 1,980 2,253 195 6,299  -35 – 38  -112 8,637 10,618 
Current liabilities              
Other loans 30,868 – 30,868 – – – – –  -99 –  -99 30,769 
Lease liabilities – – – – 89 – – – – – 89 89 
Provisions – – – – – – 445 – – – 445 445 
Advances received – – – 633 – – – – – – 633 633 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 3,971 – 3,971 – – 75 – – 151 – 226 4,197 
Total current liabilities 34,839 – 34,839 633 89 75 445 – 51 – 1,294 36,133 
Total liabilities 36,550 270 36,819 2,886 284 6,374 410 – 89  -112 9,932 46,751 
Total equity and liabilities 49,641 95 49,736 800 282 29,597 1,684  -0  -208  -1,106 31,049 80,784 
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Description of IFRS adjustments to the Group's 2023 income statement and balance 
sheets on 1 Jan. 2023 and 31 Dec. 2023 

 

Leases (IFRS 16 Leases) 

Lease agreements: KoskiRent as the lessor 

In FAS financial statements, revenue from the installation and dismantling of premises and 
restoration of foundations was recognized when the service had been rendered. In IFRS, the 
installation, dismantling, leasing and restoration of premises were treated as a single service 
package, which was recognized as rental income in equal installments over the lease term.  

Rent receivables increased by EUR 350 thousand on 1 January 2023. The cumulative growth in 
rent receivables was EUR 232 thousand on 31 December 2023. Advances received grew by EUR 
2,601 thousand on 1 January 2023. The cumulative growth in advances received was EUR 2,840 
thousand on 31 December 2023. The revenue for the financial year 2023 decreased by EUR 357 
thousand.  

 

Lease agreements: KoskiRent as the lessee 

KoskiRent's lease agreements relate to premises and company cars used in the business. In 
FAS financial statements, rent payments were recognized as an expense for the financial year to 
which they relate.  

In the IFRS transition, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were recognized for lease 
agreements; in FAS financial statements, lease payments presented in other operating 
expenses were divided into amortization of lease liabilities and interest expense arising from 
lease liabilities. Right-of-use assets were depreciated through profit or loss. 

KoskiRent applied practical exemptions, based on which payments for short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets were recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Short-term leases are agreements with a lease term of no more than 12 months. 

In the IFRS transition on 1 January 2023, EUR 65 thousand was recognized as a right-of-use 
asset and EUR 66 thousand as a financial liability (current and non-current portions). At the end 
of the financial year 2023, right-of-use assets totaled EUR 235 thousand and lease liabilities 
amounted to EUR 237 thousand. 

In the financial year 2023, the deduction in expenses was EUR 48 thousand , depreciation of 
right-of-use assets EUR 41 thousand and interest expenses arising from leases EUR 9 thousand.  

 

Investment properties: Investments in module stock (Investment properties IAS 40) 

In FAS financial statements, leasable modules and long-term expenses related to the modules 
were valued at original acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation. In the FAS financial 
statements, modules were presented in tangible assets. 

In the IFRS transition, the modules were transferred from tangible assets to the item 
investments in the module stock. In IFRS, modules treated as investment properties were 

https://sign.visma.net/fi/document-check/84d53159-6dca-411e-bfdc-13f9cb28bdf8

Electronically signed / Sähköisesti allekirjoitettu / Elektroniskt signerats / Elektronisk signert / Elektronisk underskrevet

www.vismasign.com



60 
 

measured at fair value after initial recognition. Module depreciation was reversed. Changes in 
fair value were recognized through profit or loss. In addition, changes in restoration expenses 
were recognized in the income statement as part of the change in the fair value of the modules. 

The item investments in the module stock grew by EUR 56,772 thousand on 1 January 2023. The 
cumulative growth of investments in the module stock was EUR 72,649 thousand on 31 
December 2023. In the financial year 2023, EUR 2,411 thousand in depreciation was reversed. 
Fair value adjustments of EUR 274 thousand were recorded for the financial year 2023. 

 

Provisions: Restoration provisions (Provisions IAS 37) 

In FAS financial statements, restoration costs related to leased modules, treated as long-term 
expenses in intangible assets, were valued at original acquisition cost less accumulated 
depreciation. In the FAS financial statements, restoration provisions were presented at original 
acquisition cost. 

Restoration costs, which were treated as long-term expenses under IFRS, were presented as 
part of the acquisition cost of the modules and were, therefore, transferred from intangible 
assets to the item investments in the module stock. In addition, depreciation of long-term 
expenditure was reversed.  

In IFRS, restoration provisions related to leased modules were discounted to their present value 
if cash flows related to the provisions were expected to occur more than one year after the date 
of recognition.  

In connection with the IFRS transition, the calculation principles for the restoration provision 
were also specified, which affected the change in the amount of provisions. 

The investments in the module stock item grew by EUR 1,638 thousand on 1 January 2023. The 
cumulative growth of investments in the module stock was EUR 1,971 thousand on 31 
December 2023. The restoration provision increased by EUR 117 thousand on 1 January 2023. 
The cumulative growth for the financial year 2023 amounted to EUR 410 thousand. In the 
financial year 2023, depreciations were reversed by EUR 279 thousand and financial expenses 
of EUR 109 thousand were recognized due to the discounting effect of the restoration provision.   

 

Development costs (IAS 38 Intangible Assets) 

Borrowing costs from development projects were recognized as expenses in FAS financial 
statements. 

IFRS requires the capitalization of borrowing costs to the acquisition cost of a product requiring 
a long manufacturing time when certain conditions are met. In IFRS, the Group capitalizes 
borrowing costs arising from development projects if the development phase exceeds 12 
months. In the financial year 2023, the reduction in borrowing costs on the income statement 
was EUR one thousand. 

In FAS financial statements, development projects that are not eligible for capitalization under 
IAS 38 were capitalized. In the IFRS transition, these were derecognized from development 
costs. In the financial year 2023, the increase in development costs transferred to the income 
statement as expenses was EUR 8 thousand on 31 December 2023. 
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In FAS financial statements, amortization of intangible assets began once the service had been 
performed. In the IFRS transition, amortization of intangible assets was adjusted to begin when 
the development project was completed. All development projects were completed after the 
financial year 2023, so all depreciation of development costs for the financial year 2023, 
totaling EUR 6 thousand, were reversed. 

 

Financial items (IFRS 9 Financial instruments) 

Loans 

In FAS financial statements, transaction costs of financial instruments were recognized as costs 
as incurred.  

Loans measured at amortized cost were recognized on the balance sheet less transaction costs 
under IFRS standards. Transaction costs were recognized as interest expense over the loan term 
using the effective interest rate method. In addition, material changes to the terms and 
conditions of an existing loan were treated as an amortization of the original loan and the 
recognition of a new financial liability. 

The amount of loans increased by EUR 26 thousand on 1 January 2023. The cumulative 
decrease in loans amounted to EUR 99 thousand on 31 December 2023. An increase in 
financial expenses of EUR 44 thousand was recorded for the financial year 2023. 

Loan receivable 

In December 2019, KoskiRent Oy granted M-Partners Ltd a subordinated loan with equity terms, 
amounting to EUR 1,000 thousand. The loan has no maturity date and is unsecured. The 
outstanding principal of the loan accrues an annual interest of 8 percent until the loan principal 
and accrued interest have been repaid in full or converted into the company's shares. The 
subordinated loan was granted to M-Partners Ltd on 16 December 2019 without conversion 
rights into shares. A conversion right to M-Partners Ltd's shares was added to the subordinated 
loan agreement on 18 February 2021 for the outstanding capital as of 1 January 2024. In 2023, 
the boards of both KoskiRent Oy and M-Partners Ltd agreed that the conversion right of the 
subordinated loan will not be exercised in 2024 and the terms of the subordinated loan 
agreement were amended in 2024 by changing the starting date of the conversion right to 1 
January 2027. 

In the FAS financial statements, the loan was valued at nominal value and interest income was 
recognized on the loan. In IFRS, the loan receivable was recognized at fair value through profit or 
loss. The amount of the loan receivable increased by EUR 1,709 thousand on 1 January 2023. 
The cumulative growth in loan receivable was EUR 38 thousand on 31 December 2023. For the 
financial year 2023, the decrease in interest income was EUR 80 thousand, and a change in fair 
value of EUR 1,671 thousand was recognised from loan receivables.  

 

Other adjustments and reclassifications 

✓ In the IFRS transition on 1 January 2023, the cumulative depreciation 
difference of EUR 5,691 thousand recorded in the FAS financial statements 
was reversed. The cumulative adjustment of the depreciation difference was 
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EUR 4,969 thousand on 31 December 2023. In the financial year 2023, the 
depreciation difference of EUR 722 thousand was reversed in the income 
statement. 

✓ The lease collateral shown in the FAS financial statements in other current 
receivables was transferred to other non-current receivables. The resulting 
cumulative adjustment amounted to EUR 8 thousand on 31 December 2023 
and EUR 2 thousand on 1 January 2023. 

✓ After netting deferred taxes, the increase in deferred tax liabilities was EUR 
6,344 thousand on 1 January 2023. The cumulative increase in deferred tax 
liabilities after netting was EUR 6,318 thousand on 31 December 2023. In 
fiscal year 2023, the decrease in deferred taxes was EUR 26 thousand. 

 

FAS adjustments 

Corrections of errors pertaining to previous financial years 

The confirmed financial statement for 2023 differs from the comparison information in the 2024 
financial statement regarding the income statement, balance sheet, equity, and distributable 
equity.  The following adjustments have been made to the closing balance sheet of the previous 
financial year, which is the comparison year. 

In the financial year 2021, too small residual value was deducted at the time of disposal from a 
structure that had been sold. The error has been corrected by adjusting retained earnings from 
previous financial years. The adjustment totaled EUR 175 thousand and decreased 
distributable profits.  

An invoice related to earthwork and foundation work, amounting to EUR 786 thousand, was 
missing from the financial period 2022, as the supplier had not invoiced it due to an incorrect 
project entry and inadequate monitoring. The item was recorded as an addition in structures 
and non-current liabilities. In addition, balance sheet structures included EUR 517 thousand in 
advance payment for modules that had not yet been received from the supplier. The item was 
derecognized from structures and non-current liabilities. The resulting adjustment increased 
the value of buildings by EUR 270 thousand on 1 January 2023. The adjustments has no impact 
on equity or on the profit or loss. 

The combined effects of the adjustments due to errors in the opening balance sheet on 1 
January 2023 were an increase of EUR 95 thousand in the value of buildings, a decrease of EUR 
175 thousand in equity and an increase of EUR 270 thousand in long-term liabilities. 

 

Changes in accounting principles 

In the financial year 2023, the capitalization of wage costs related to buildings, as well as the 
capitalization of external service expenses related to development costs, were presented in the 
income statement under the item "production for own use". The accounting principle was 
changed in the 2024 financial year in connection with the transition to IFRS reporting so that 
capitalizations are recorded by debiting expense accounts. The resulting adjustment to the 
income statement for the financial year 2023 was EUR 308 thousand. The adjustments had no 
impact on earnings. 
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Phone +358 20 787 7000, www.pwc.fi   

Reg. Domicile Helsinki, Business ID 0486406-8 
 

 

Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors of KoskiRent Oyj 

Opinion 

In our opinion, each of the consolidated financial statements included in the Set of Consolidated Financial 

Statements give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows in 

accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

What we have audited 

We have audited the Set of Consolidated Financial Statements of KoskiRent Oyj (business identity code 

2539752-6) comprising the consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2024 

and 31 December 2023 (the “Set of Consolidated Financial Statements”). Each consolidated financial statements 

comprise the consolidated balance sheet, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, 

statement of cash flows and notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

The Set of Consolidated Financial Statements has been prepared solely for the purpose of inclusion in the listing 

prospectus prepared by KoskiRent Oyj in connection with the listing of bonds issued by KoskiRent Oyj on the 

corporate bond list of Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. 

This auditor’s report has been prepared only for the purpose of including it in the listing prospectus mentioned 

above. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Auditing on Standards (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

Independence 

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are applicable in Finland 

and are relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of each consolidated 

financial statements included in the Set of Consolidated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors and the Managing 

Director are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 

responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 

relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The consolidated financial statements 
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are prepared using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the group or 

cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance on whether each consolidated financial statements included in 

the Set of Consolidated Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going 

concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as 

a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 

our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group 

to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events so that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view.  

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 

information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 

group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work 

performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit. 
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Oulu 14 July 2025 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy 

Authorised Public Accountants 

 

Sami Posti 

Authorised Public Accountant (KHT) 

 

 

Assently: c00b385342c806930dd9558268f4b554d36733d6c53ac83e21acee33fe47cc572fe29e7898d656691e720be4079fb0dca34b4bf345099324280d492390ca2899


	Insert from: "KoskiRent Oyj - Prospectus (Final).pdf"
	IMPORTANT INFORMATION
	SUMMARY
	Key Information on the Issuer
	Who Is the Issuer of the Securities?
	What Is the Key Financial Information Regarding the Issuer?
	Key Information on the Securities
	What Are the Main Features of the Securities?
	Where Will the Securities Be Traded?
	Is There a Guarantee Attached to the Securities?
	What Are the Key Risks That Are Specific to the Securities?
	Key Information on the Offer of Securities to the Public and Admission to Trading on a Regulated Market
	Under Which Conditions and Timetable Can I Invest in This Security?
	Why Is This Prospectus Being Produced?
	Material Interests
	The Issuer and any other member of the Group may, subject to applicable laws, purchase Bonds. It should be noted that the Group may have interests that conflict with other bondholders particularly if the Group encounters difficulties or is unable to p...


	TIIVISTELMÄ
	Johdanto ja varoitukset
	Keskeisiä tietoja liikkeeseenlaskijasta
	Kuka on arvopapereiden liikkeeseenlaskija?
	Mitä ovat liikkeeseenlaskijaa koskevat keskeiset taloudelliset tiedot?
	Mitkä ovat Liikkeeseenlaskijaan liittyvät olennaiset riskit?
	Mitkä ovat arvopapereiden keskeiset ominaisuudet?
	Missä arvopapereilla tullaan käymään kauppaa?
	Arvopapereihin liittyvät takaukset
	Mitkä ovat arvopapereihin liittyvät keskeiset riskit?

	Keskeiset tiedot arvopapereiden tarjoamisesta ja listalleotosta
	Mitkä ovat arvopaperiin sijoittamisen edellytykset ja aikataulu?
	Miksi tämä esite on laadittu?
	Olennaiset intressit
	Liikkeeseenlaskija sekä muut sen konsernin yhtiöt voivat voimassa olevan lainsäädännön mukaisesti ostaa Velkakirjoja. Liikkeeseenlaskijan konsernilla voi olla muiden Velkakirjojen haltijoiden intresseistä poikkeavia intressejä, erityisesti mikäli se k...


	RISK FACTORS
	RESPONSIBILITY REGARDING THE PROSPECTUS
	INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER
	INFORMATION DERIVED FROM THIRD PARTY SOURCES
	AVAILABILITY OF THE PROSPECTUS
	NO CREDIT RATING
	NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
	NO INCORPORATION OF WEBSITE INFORMATION
	CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER
	OTHER INFORMATION
	TAXATION
	TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS
	1. Definitions and Construction
	1.1 Definitions
	“Minimum Cash Amount“ means an amount equivalent to the aggregate of:
	“Minimum Cash“ means cash and cash equivalents of the Group in accordance with the Accounting Principles, excluding any amount standing to the credit of the Blocked Account.
	“Sole Bookrunner“ means Pareto Securities Oy.

	1.2 Construction

	2. Status of the Bonds
	Subsequent Bonds shall benefit from and be subject to the Finance Documents, and, for the avoidance of doubt, the ISIN, the Interest Rate, the Nominal Amount and the Final Maturity Date applicable to the Initial Bonds shall apply to Subsequent Bonds. ...

	3. Use of Proceeds
	4. Conditions Precedent
	4.1 Conditions Precedent for an Issue Date
	Any Subsequent Bond Issue is further subject to the Agent’s receipt of the documents and evidence referred to in Clause 4.1 in relation to the Initial Bond Issue and that the Security created over the Proceeds Account Pledge Agreement has been release...

	4.2 Conditions Precedent for Disbursement
	4.3 Conditions Precedent for Release from the Blocked Account

	5. Bonds in Book-Entry Form
	6. Right to Act on Behalf of a Bondholder
	7. Payments in Respect of the Bonds
	8. Interest
	9. Redemption and Repurchase of the Bonds
	9.1 Redemption at maturity
	9.2 Issuer’s purchase of Bonds
	9.3 Voluntary total redemption (call option)
	9.4 Voluntary partial redemption
	9.5 Mandatory repurchase due to a Change of Control Event (put option)

	10. Transaction Security and Guarantees
	11. Information to Bondholders
	11.1 Information from the Issuer
	11.2 Information from the Agent
	11.3 Publication of Finance Documents

	12. Financial Undertakings
	12.1 Maintenance Covenants
	The Maintenance Covenants are met if:

	12.2 Testing of the Maintenance Covenants
	The Maintenance Covenants shall be tested quarterly on each Reference Date, as long as any Bond is outstanding, on the basis of the interim consolidated Financial Report for the Reference Period ending on such Reference Date and shall be included in t...

	12.3 Incurrence Tests
	The Incurrence Test is met if:

	12.4 Testing of the Incurrence Tests
	The net rental income from an Eligible Contract shall, to the extent not possible to confirm directly from the relevant Eligible Contract, be calculated by the Issuer based on reasonable, sound and verifiable assumptions.

	12.5 Adjustments
	EBITDA
	The figures for EBITDA for the Reference Period ending on the relevant test date by the most recent Financial Report shall be used for the Maintenance Covenants, but adjusted so that:
	Net Finance Charges
	The figures for Net Finance Charges set out in the Financial Report as of the most recent quarter date (including when necessary, financial statements published before the First Issue Date), shall be used, but adjusted so that Net Finance Charges for ...


	13. General Undertakings
	13.1 General
	The Issuer undertakes to (and shall, where applicable, procure that each other Group Company will) comply with the undertakings set out in this Clause 13 for as long as any Bonds remain outstanding.

	13.2 Restricted Payments
	Other than any payment pursuant to Clause 3 (Use of Proceeds), the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that none of its Subsidiaries will:
	(other than to the Issuer or a wholly-owned, direct or indirect, Subsidiary of the Issuer and, if made by a Subsidiary which is not directly or indirectly wholly-owned by the Issuer, is made on a pro rata basis), (paragraphs (a) – (f) above are togeth...

	13.3 Listing
	13.4 Nature of Business
	The Issuer shall procure that no substantial change is made to the general nature of the business carried on by the Group as of the First Issue Date if such substantial change would have a Material Adverse Effect.

	13.5 Financial Indebtedness
	The Issuer shall not, and shall procure that no other Group Company will, incur, maintain, prolong, renew or extend any Financial Indebtedness, provided however that the Issuer and its Subsidiaries have a right to incur, maintain, prolong, renew or ex...

	13.6 Disposal of Assets
	The Issuer shall not, and shall procure that no other Group Company will, sell or otherwise dispose of any shares in any Group Company or of all or substantially all of its or that Subsidiary’s assets, or operations to any person not being the Issuer ...

	13.7 Negative Pledge
	The Issuer shall not, and shall procure that no other Group Company will, provide, prolong or renew any security over any of its/their assets (present or future), provided however that the Group shall have the right to provide, retain, prolong or rene...

	13.8 Guarantors
	The Issuer shall, in each case pursuant to and in accordance with the Agreed Security Principles procure that each Material Group Company accedes to the Guarantee Agreement no later than ninety (90) Business Days after its nomination in accordance wit...

	13.9 Additional Transaction Security
	The Issuer shall:
	in each case pursuant to and in accordance with the Agreed Security Principles

	13.10 Dealings with related parties
	The Issuer shall, and shall procure that each other Group Company will, conduct all dealings (including, but not limited to the M-Partners Contract) with their direct and indirect shareholders (excluding the Issuer and any other Group Company) and/or ...

	13.11 Loans out
	The Issuer shall not, and shall procure that no other Group Company will, extend any loans in any form to any other party other than as set out under Clause 13.2 (Restricted Payments).

	13.12 Compliance with laws and authorisations
	The Issuer shall, and shall make sure that each other Group Company will, (i) comply with all laws and regulations applicable from time to time, and (ii) obtain, maintain, and comply with, the terms and conditions of any authorisation, approval, licen...

	13.13 Nomination of Material Group Companies
	At the First Issue Date and thereafter once every year (starting in 2025) (simultaneously with the publication by the Issuer of the audited annual financial statements of the Group), the Issuer shall ensure that each Group Company which has earnings b...

	13.14 Insurance
	The Issuer shall, and shall procure that each other Group Company will, keep the properties and buildings owned by the Group insured to an extent which is customary for similar properties or buildings (as applicable) on the relevant geographical marke...

	13.15 Maintenance of properties and buildings
	The Issuer shall ensure that the properties and buildings owned by the Group are managed properly and maintained in good condition and are not demolished or altered in a way that would have a Material Adverse Effect.


	14. Events of Default and Acceleration of the Bonds
	14.1 Non-Payment
	The Issuer or a Guarantor fails to pay an amount on the date it is due in accordance with the Finance Documents unless:

	14.2 Maintenance Covenants
	The Issuer has failed to comply with the Maintenance Covenants.

	14.3 Other Obligations
	A party (other than the Agent) fails to comply with the Finance Documents, in any other way than as set out in Clauses 14.1 (Non-Payment) and 14.2 (Maintenance Covenant), provided that no Event of Default will occur if the failure to comply is capable...
	14.4 Cross payment default and Cross-acceleration
	Any Financial Indebtedness of a Group Company is:
	provided that no Event of Default will occur under this Clause 14.4 if (i) the aggregate amount of Financial Indebtedness that has fallen due is less than EUR 1,000,000 or (ii) it is owed to a Group Company.

	14.5 Insolvency
	14.6 Insolvency Proceedings
	Any corporate action, legal proceedings or other procedures are taken (other than (i) proceedings or petitions which are being disputed in good faith and are discharged, stayed or dismissed within 60 days of commencement or, if earlier, the date on wh...

	14.7 Mergers and demergers
	A decision is made that any Group Company shall be demerged or merged if such merger or demerger is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, provided that a merger subject to existing security between Subsidiaries only or between the Issuer and a Sub...

	14.8 Creditors’ Process
	Any expropriation, attachment, sequestration, distress or execution or any analogous process in any jurisdiction affects any asset or assets of any Group Company having an aggregate value of an amount equal to or exceeding EUR 500,000 and is not disch...

	14.9 Impossibility or Illegality
	It is or becomes impossible or unlawful for the Issuer or a Guarantor to fulfil or perform any of the provisions of the Finance Documents or if the obligations under the Finance Documents are not, or cease to be, legal, valid, binding and enforceable.

	14.10 Continuation of the Business
	The Issuer or any other Group Company ceases to carry on its business and such discontinuation is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

	14.11 Acceleration of the Bonds

	15. Distribution of Proceeds
	16. Decisions by Bondholders
	17. Bondholders’ Meeting
	18. Written Procedure
	19. Amendments and Waivers
	20. Replacement of Base Rate
	20.1 General
	20.2 Definitions
	In this Clause 20:
	“Adjustment Spread“ means a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero) or a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, or a combination thereof to be applied to a Successor Base Rate and that is:
	“Base Rate Amendments“ has the meaning set forth in Clause 20.3(d).
	“Base Rate Event“ means one or several of the following circumstances:
	“Base Rate Event Announcement“ means a public statement or published information as set out in paragraphs (b) to (e) of the definition of Base Rate Event that any event or circumstance specified therein will occur.
	“Independent Adviser“ means an independent financial institution or adviser of repute in the debt capital markets where the Base Rate is commonly used.
	“Relevant Nominating Body“ means, subject to applicable law, firstly any relevant supervisory authority and secondly any applicable central bank, or any working group or committee of any of them.
	“Successor Base Rate“ means:
	For the avoidance of doubt, in the event that a Successor Base Rate ceases to exist, this definition shall apply mutatis mutandis to such new Successor Base Rate.

	20.3 Determination of Base Rate, Adjustment Spread and Base Rate Amendments
	20.4 Interim measures
	20.5 Notices etc.
	Prior to the Successor Base Rate, the applicable Adjustment Spread and any Base Rate Amendments become effective the Issuer shall promptly, following the final decision by the Independent Adviser of any Successor Base Rate, Adjustment Spread and any B...

	20.6 Variation upon replacement of Base Rate
	20.7 Limitation of liability for the Independent Adviser
	Any Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to Clause 20.3 shall not be liable whatsoever for damage or loss caused by any determination, action taken or omitted by it under or in connection with any Finance Document, unless directly caused by its gros...


	21. Appointment and Replacement of the Agent and the Security Agent
	21.1 Appointment of Agent and the Security Agent
	21.2 Duties of the Agent and the Security Agent
	21.3 Limited liability for the Agent and the Security Agent
	21.4 Replacement of the Agent and the Security Agent
	21.5 Appointment and Replacement of the CSD
	21.6 Appointment and Replacement of the Paying Agent

	22. No Direct Actions by Bondholders
	23. Prescription
	24. Notices and Press Releases
	24.1 Notices
	24.2 Press releases

	25. Force Majeure and Limitation of Liability
	26. Governing Law and Jurisdiction
	AGREED SECURITY PRINCIPLES

	CERTAIN INFORMATION ON THE BONDS
	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON GUARANTEES AND TRANSACTION SECURITY
	BUSINESS OF THE ISSUER
	FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION
	Consolidated Comprehensive Income Statement
	Consolidated balance sheet
	Consolidated cash flow statement

	BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT AND AUDITORS
	ARRANGEMENTS WITH THE BOOKRUNNER
	LEGAL MATTERS
	INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
	Documents on display and available information

	Insert from: "KoskiRent Oyj - Prospectus - Final FIVA.pdf"
	IMPORTANT INFORMATION
	SUMMARY
	Key Information on the Issuer
	Who Is the Issuer of the Securities?
	What Is the Key Financial Information Regarding the Issuer?
	Key Information on the Securities
	What Are the Main Features of the Securities?
	Where Will the Securities Be Traded?
	Is There a Guarantee Attached to the Securities?
	What Are the Key Risks That Are Specific to the Securities?
	Key Information on the Offer of Securities to the Public and Admission to Trading on a Regulated Market
	Under Which Conditions and Timetable Can I Invest in This Security?
	Why Is This Prospectus Being Produced?
	Material Interests
	The Issuer and any other member of the Group may, subject to applicable laws, purchase Bonds. It should be noted that the Group may have interests that conflict with other bondholders particularly if the Group encounters difficulties or is unable to p...
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	1. Definitions and Construction
	1.1 Definitions
	“Minimum Cash Amount“ means an amount equivalent to the aggregate of:
	“Minimum Cash“ means cash and cash equivalents of the Group in accordance with the Accounting Principles, excluding any amount standing to the credit of the Blocked Account.
	“Sole Bookrunner“ means Pareto Securities Oy.

	1.2 Construction

	2. Status of the Bonds
	Subsequent Bonds shall benefit from and be subject to the Finance Documents, and, for the avoidance of doubt, the ISIN, the Interest Rate, the Nominal Amount and the Final Maturity Date applicable to the Initial Bonds shall apply to Subsequent Bonds. ...

	3. Use of Proceeds
	4. Conditions Precedent
	4.1 Conditions Precedent for an Issue Date
	Any Subsequent Bond Issue is further subject to the Agent’s receipt of the documents and evidence referred to in Clause 4.1 in relation to the Initial Bond Issue and that the Security created over the Proceeds Account Pledge Agreement has been release...

	4.2 Conditions Precedent for Disbursement
	4.3 Conditions Precedent for Release from the Blocked Account

	5. Bonds in Book-Entry Form
	6. Right to Act on Behalf of a Bondholder
	7. Payments in Respect of the Bonds
	8. Interest
	9. Redemption and Repurchase of the Bonds
	9.1 Redemption at maturity
	9.2 Issuer’s purchase of Bonds
	9.3 Voluntary total redemption (call option)
	9.4 Voluntary partial redemption
	9.5 Mandatory repurchase due to a Change of Control Event (put option)

	10. Transaction Security and Guarantees
	11. Information to Bondholders
	11.1 Information from the Issuer
	11.2 Information from the Agent
	11.3 Publication of Finance Documents

	12. Financial Undertakings
	12.1 Maintenance Covenants
	The Maintenance Covenants are met if:

	12.2 Testing of the Maintenance Covenants
	The Maintenance Covenants shall be tested quarterly on each Reference Date, as long as any Bond is outstanding, on the basis of the interim consolidated Financial Report for the Reference Period ending on such Reference Date and shall be included in t...

	12.3 Incurrence Tests
	The Incurrence Test is met if:

	12.4 Testing of the Incurrence Tests
	The net rental income from an Eligible Contract shall, to the extent not possible to confirm directly from the relevant Eligible Contract, be calculated by the Issuer based on reasonable, sound and verifiable assumptions.

	12.5 Adjustments
	EBITDA
	The figures for EBITDA for the Reference Period ending on the relevant test date by the most recent Financial Report shall be used for the Maintenance Covenants, but adjusted so that:
	Net Finance Charges
	The figures for Net Finance Charges set out in the Financial Report as of the most recent quarter date (including when necessary, financial statements published before the First Issue Date), shall be used, but adjusted so that Net Finance Charges for ...


	13. General Undertakings
	13.1 General
	The Issuer undertakes to (and shall, where applicable, procure that each other Group Company will) comply with the undertakings set out in this Clause 13 for as long as any Bonds remain outstanding.

	13.2 Restricted Payments
	Other than any payment pursuant to Clause 3 (Use of Proceeds), the Issuer shall not, and shall procure that none of its Subsidiaries will:
	(other than to the Issuer or a wholly-owned, direct or indirect, Subsidiary of the Issuer and, if made by a Subsidiary which is not directly or indirectly wholly-owned by the Issuer, is made on a pro rata basis), (paragraphs (a) – (f) above are togeth...

	13.3 Listing
	13.4 Nature of Business
	The Issuer shall procure that no substantial change is made to the general nature of the business carried on by the Group as of the First Issue Date if such substantial change would have a Material Adverse Effect.

	13.5 Financial Indebtedness
	The Issuer shall not, and shall procure that no other Group Company will, incur, maintain, prolong, renew or extend any Financial Indebtedness, provided however that the Issuer and its Subsidiaries have a right to incur, maintain, prolong, renew or ex...

	13.6 Disposal of Assets
	The Issuer shall not, and shall procure that no other Group Company will, sell or otherwise dispose of any shares in any Group Company or of all or substantially all of its or that Subsidiary’s assets, or operations to any person not being the Issuer ...

	13.7 Negative Pledge
	The Issuer shall not, and shall procure that no other Group Company will, provide, prolong or renew any security over any of its/their assets (present or future), provided however that the Group shall have the right to provide, retain, prolong or rene...

	13.8 Guarantors
	The Issuer shall, in each case pursuant to and in accordance with the Agreed Security Principles procure that each Material Group Company accedes to the Guarantee Agreement no later than ninety (90) Business Days after its nomination in accordance wit...

	13.9 Additional Transaction Security
	The Issuer shall:
	in each case pursuant to and in accordance with the Agreed Security Principles

	13.10 Dealings with related parties
	The Issuer shall, and shall procure that each other Group Company will, conduct all dealings (including, but not limited to the M-Partners Contract) with their direct and indirect shareholders (excluding the Issuer and any other Group Company) and/or ...

	13.11 Loans out
	The Issuer shall not, and shall procure that no other Group Company will, extend any loans in any form to any other party other than as set out under Clause 13.2 (Restricted Payments).

	13.12 Compliance with laws and authorisations
	The Issuer shall, and shall make sure that each other Group Company will, (i) comply with all laws and regulations applicable from time to time, and (ii) obtain, maintain, and comply with, the terms and conditions of any authorisation, approval, licen...

	13.13 Nomination of Material Group Companies
	At the First Issue Date and thereafter once every year (starting in 2025) (simultaneously with the publication by the Issuer of the audited annual financial statements of the Group), the Issuer shall ensure that each Group Company which has earnings b...

	13.14 Insurance
	The Issuer shall, and shall procure that each other Group Company will, keep the properties and buildings owned by the Group insured to an extent which is customary for similar properties or buildings (as applicable) on the relevant geographical marke...

	13.15 Maintenance of properties and buildings
	The Issuer shall ensure that the properties and buildings owned by the Group are managed properly and maintained in good condition and are not demolished or altered in a way that would have a Material Adverse Effect.


	14. Events of Default and Acceleration of the Bonds
	14.1 Non-Payment
	The Issuer or a Guarantor fails to pay an amount on the date it is due in accordance with the Finance Documents unless:

	14.2 Maintenance Covenants
	The Issuer has failed to comply with the Maintenance Covenants.

	14.3 Other Obligations
	A party (other than the Agent) fails to comply with the Finance Documents, in any other way than as set out in Clauses 14.1 (Non-Payment) and 14.2 (Maintenance Covenant), provided that no Event of Default will occur if the failure to comply is capable...
	14.4 Cross payment default and Cross-acceleration
	Any Financial Indebtedness of a Group Company is:
	provided that no Event of Default will occur under this Clause 14.4 if (i) the aggregate amount of Financial Indebtedness that has fallen due is less than EUR 1,000,000 or (ii) it is owed to a Group Company.

	14.5 Insolvency
	14.6 Insolvency Proceedings
	Any corporate action, legal proceedings or other procedures are taken (other than (i) proceedings or petitions which are being disputed in good faith and are discharged, stayed or dismissed within 60 days of commencement or, if earlier, the date on wh...

	14.7 Mergers and demergers
	A decision is made that any Group Company shall be demerged or merged if such merger or demerger is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, provided that a merger subject to existing security between Subsidiaries only or between the Issuer and a Sub...

	14.8 Creditors’ Process
	Any expropriation, attachment, sequestration, distress or execution or any analogous process in any jurisdiction affects any asset or assets of any Group Company having an aggregate value of an amount equal to or exceeding EUR 500,000 and is not disch...

	14.9 Impossibility or Illegality
	It is or becomes impossible or unlawful for the Issuer or a Guarantor to fulfil or perform any of the provisions of the Finance Documents or if the obligations under the Finance Documents are not, or cease to be, legal, valid, binding and enforceable.

	14.10 Continuation of the Business
	The Issuer or any other Group Company ceases to carry on its business and such discontinuation is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

	14.11 Acceleration of the Bonds

	15. Distribution of Proceeds
	16. Decisions by Bondholders
	17. Bondholders’ Meeting
	18. Written Procedure
	19. Amendments and Waivers
	20. Replacement of Base Rate
	20.1 General
	20.2 Definitions
	In this Clause 20:
	“Adjustment Spread“ means a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero) or a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, or a combination thereof to be applied to a Successor Base Rate and that is:
	“Base Rate Amendments“ has the meaning set forth in Clause 20.3(d).
	“Base Rate Event“ means one or several of the following circumstances:
	“Base Rate Event Announcement“ means a public statement or published information as set out in paragraphs (b) to (e) of the definition of Base Rate Event that any event or circumstance specified therein will occur.
	“Independent Adviser“ means an independent financial institution or adviser of repute in the debt capital markets where the Base Rate is commonly used.
	“Relevant Nominating Body“ means, subject to applicable law, firstly any relevant supervisory authority and secondly any applicable central bank, or any working group or committee of any of them.
	“Successor Base Rate“ means:
	For the avoidance of doubt, in the event that a Successor Base Rate ceases to exist, this definition shall apply mutatis mutandis to such new Successor Base Rate.

	20.3 Determination of Base Rate, Adjustment Spread and Base Rate Amendments
	20.4 Interim measures
	20.5 Notices etc.
	Prior to the Successor Base Rate, the applicable Adjustment Spread and any Base Rate Amendments become effective the Issuer shall promptly, following the final decision by the Independent Adviser of any Successor Base Rate, Adjustment Spread and any B...

	20.6 Variation upon replacement of Base Rate
	20.7 Limitation of liability for the Independent Adviser
	Any Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to Clause 20.3 shall not be liable whatsoever for damage or loss caused by any determination, action taken or omitted by it under or in connection with any Finance Document, unless directly caused by its gros...
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